The National Academies of MEDICINE

THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES PRESS

This PDF is available at http://nap.edu/25683





Review of the Department of Defense Biokinetic Modeling Approach in Support of Establishing an Airborne Lead Exposure Limit (2020)

DETAILS

48 pages | 8.5 x 11 | PAPERBACK ISBN 978-0-309-67192-7 | DOI 10.17226/25683

CONTRIBUTORS

GET THIS BOOK

Committee to Review DoD s Proposed Occupational Exposure Limits for Lead; Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology; Division on Earth and Life Studies; National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine

FIND RELATED TITLES

SUGGESTED CITATION

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2020. *Review of the Department of Defense Biokinetic Modeling Approach in Support of Establishing an Airborne Lead Exposure Limit*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25683.

Visit the National Academies Press at NAP.edu and login or register to get:

- Access to free PDF downloads of thousands of scientific reports
- 10% off the price of print titles
- Email or social media notifications of new titles related to your interests
- Special offers and discounts



Distribution, posting, or copying of this PDF is strictly prohibited without written permission of the National Academies Press. (Request Permission) Unless otherwise indicated, all materials in this PDF are copyrighted by the National Academy of Sciences.

Copyright © National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Committee to Review DoD's Proposed Occupational Exposure Limits for Lead

Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology

Division on Earth and Life Studies

A Consensus Study Report of The National Academies of SCIENCES • ENGINEERING • MEDICINE

> THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES PRESS Washington, DC www.nap.edu

Copyright National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES PRESS500 Fifth Street, NWWashington, DC 20001

This activity was supported by a contract (W81K04-16-D-0036/W81K0418F0054) between the National Academy of Sciences and the U.S. Department of Defense. Any opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations expressed in this publication do not necessarily reflect the views of any organization or agency that provided support for the project.

International Standard Book Number-13: 978-0-309-67192-7 International Standard Book Number-10: 0-309-67192-2 Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.17226/25683

Additional copies of this publication are available from the National Academies Press, 500 Fifth Street, NW, Keck 360, Washington, DC 20001; (800) 624-6242 or (202) 334-3313; http://www.nap.edu.

Copyright 2020 by the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Printed in the United States of America

Suggested citation: National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2020. Review of the Department of Defense Biokinetic Modeling Approach in Support of Establishing an Airborne Lead Exposure Limit. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/25683.

The National Academies of SCIENCES • ENGINEERING • MEDICINE

The **National Academy of Sciences** was established in 1863 by an Act of Congress, signed by President Lincoln, as a private, nongovernmental institution to advise the nation on issues related to science and technology. Members are elected by their peers for outstanding contributions to research. Dr. Marcia McNutt is president.

The **National Academy of Engineering** was established in 1964 under the charter of the National Academy of Sciences to bring the practices of engineering to advising the nation. Members are elected by their peers for extraordinary contributions to engineering. Dr. John L. Anderson is president.

The **National Academy of Medicine** (formerly the Institute of Medicine) was established in 1970 under the charter of the National Academy of Sciences to advise the nation on medical and health issues. Members are elected by their peers for distinguished contributions to medicine and health. Dr. Victor J. Dzau is president.

The three Academies work together as the **National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine** to provide independent, objective analysis and advice to the nation and conduct other activities to solve complex problems and inform public policy decisions. The National Academies also encourage education and research, recognize outstanding contributions to knowledge, and increase public understanding in matters of science, engineering, and medicine.

Learn more about the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine at www.nationalacademies.org.

The National Academies of SCIENCES • ENGINEERING • MEDICINE

Consensus Study Reports published by the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine document the evidence-based consensus on the study's statement of task by an authoring committee of experts. Reports typically include findings, conclusions, and recommendations based on information gathered by the committee and the committee's deliberations. Each report has been subjected to a rigorous and independent peer-review process and it represents the position of the National Academies on the statement of task.

Proceedings published by the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine chronicle the presentations and discussions at a workshop, symposium, or other event convened by the National Academies. The statements and opinions contained in proceedings are those of the participants and are not endorsed by other participants, the planning committee, or the National Academies.

For information about other products and activities of the National Academies, please visit www.nationalacademies.org/about/whatwedo.

COMMITTEE TO REVIEW DOD'S PROPOSED OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE LIMITS FOR LEAD

Members

Justin G. Teeguarden (*Chair*), Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA Jeffrey W. Fisher, U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Jefferson, AR Gary L. Ginsberg, New York State Department of Health, Albany Philip E. Goodrum, GSI Environmental Inc., Fayetteville, NY Sheryl A. Milz, University of Toledo, OH Roberta B. Ness (NAM), University of Texas Health Science Center (retired), Houston Gurumurthy Ramachandran, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD Brad Reisfeld, Colorado State University, Fort Collins

Staff

Raymond A. Wassel, Project Director Susan N. J. Martel, Senior Program Officer for Toxicology (until December 31, 2019) Tamara Dawson, Program Associate

Sponsor

U.S. Department of Defense

BOARD ON ENVIRONMENTAL STUDIES AND TOXICOLOGY

Members

William H. Farland (*Chair*), Colorado State University, Fort Collins
Lesa Aylward, Summit Toxicology, LLP, Falls Church, VA
Ann M. Bartuska, Resources for the Future, Washington, DC
Germaine M. Buck Louis, George Mason University, Fairfax, VA
E. William Colglazier, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Washington, DC
Francesca Dominici, Harvard University, Boston, MA
George Gray, The George Washington University, Washington, DC
R. Jeffrey Lewis, ExxonMobil Biomedical Sciences, Inc., Annandale, NJ
Linsey C. Marr, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg
R. Craig Postlewaite, U.S. Department of Defense, Burke, VA
Reza J. Rasoulpour, Corteva Agriscience, Indianapolis, IN
Ivan Rusyn, Texas A&M University, College Station
Deborah L. Swackhamer, University of Minnesota, St. Paul
Joshua Tewksbury, Future Earth, Boulder, CO
Sacoby M. Wilson, University of Maryland, College Park

Staff

Clifford S. Duke, Director Raymond A. Wassel, Scholar and Director of Environmental Studies Susan N. J. Martel, Senior Program Officer for Toxicology (until December 31, 2019) Laura Llanos, Finance Business Partner Tamara Dawson, Program Associate

Acknowledgments

In the course of preparing its report, the committee held a public information-gathering session on June 13, 2019, to hear presentations from James Brown (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency), John Seibert (U.S. Department of Defense), Lisa Sweeney (UES, Inc.), and Kathleen Vork (California Environmental Protection Agency). Desmond Bannon (U.S. Department of Defense) served as the sponsor's point of contact during the study and facilitated responses to committee requests for written information.

This Consensus Study Report was reviewed in draft form by individuals chosen for their diverse perspectives and technical expertise. The purpose of this independent review is to provide candid and critical comments that will assist the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine in making each published report as sound as possible and to ensure that it meets the institutional standards for quality, objectivity, evidence, and responsiveness to the study charge. The review comments and draft manuscript remain confidential to protect the integrity of the deliberative process.

We thank the following individuals for their review of this report:

G. Marius Clore, National Institutes of Health Serap Erdal, University of Illinois Panos Georgopoulus, Rutgers University Michael Kosnett, University of Colorado Steven Lacey, The University of Utah Andrew Nong, Health Canada Kathleen Vork, California Environmental Protection Agency

Although the reviewers listed above provided many constructive comments and suggestions, they were not asked to endorse the conclusions or recommendations of this report nor did they see the final draft before its release. The review of this report was overseen by **Mark Cullen**, Stanford University, and **Michael McCawley**, West Virginia University. They were responsible for making certain that an independent examination of this report was carried out in accordance with the standards of the National Academies and that all review comments were carefully considered. Responsibility for the final content rests entirely with the authoring committee and the National Academies.

Acronyms and Abbreviations

ACGIH	American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists
ACSL	Advanced Continuous Simulation Language
AF	absorption fraction
BLL	blood lead level
CV	coefficient of variation
DoD	U.S. Department of Defense
DOEHRS	Defense Occupational and Environmental and Health Readiness System
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
GFR	glomerular filtration rate
GI	gastrointestinal
GSD	geometric standard deviation
ITC	inhalation transfer coefficient
MATLAB	Matrix Laboratory
OEL	occupational exposure limit
OSHA	Occupational Safety and Health Administration
Pb	lead
PBPK	physiologically-based pharmacokinetic
PEL	permissible exposure limit
RBC	red blood cell
TB	tracheo-bronchial
TLV	threshold limit value
TWA	time-weighted average
μg/dL	microgram per deciliter
μg/m³	microgram per cubic meter

Contents

SUI	SUMMARY				
1	 INTRODUCTION				
2	COMMITTEE'S APPROACH TO ITS TASK				
3	COMMITTEE'S REVIEW OF THE DOD-O'FLAHERTY MODEL				
RE	FERENCES				
	APPENDIXES				
A	STATEMENT OF TASK				
B	COMMITTEE MEMBER BIOSKETCHES				

Summary

Military and civilian workers at the U.S. Department of Defense (DoD) can be exposed to airborne lead at firing ranges and in other occupational settings. In 1978, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) set the current permissible exposure limit for airborne lead at 50 μ g/m³. OSHA considers a blood lead level (BLL) of 40 μ g/dL to be the upper acceptable limit to protect workers from adverse health effects. During the decades since OSHA set that limit, substantial scientific evidence pointed to a diversity of health effects associated with BLLs at less than 40 μ g/dL. Based on that evidence and recommendations provided in 2013 by the National Research Council, DoD sought to identify BLLs lower than 40 μ g/dL for worker removal and return to work. In addition, DoD sought to derive an airborne lead concentration corresponding to the BLL targeted by DoD management. That concentration is referred to as an occupational exposure limit (OEL), which is intended to represent the maximum contaminant concentration in the workplace that is intended to limit exposure concentrations and protect worker health.

DoD arranged for the use of a biokinetic model (also referred to as a physiologically-based pharmacokinetic [PBPK] model) to support the development of an OEL. Biokinetic modeling provides a mathematical technique for estimating absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion of chemicals, including particles and metals, in humans. Such models can be used to relate the amount of lead external exposure to the amount of lead found in the blood and other tissues at different points in time. DoD used a modified version of the O'Flaherty biokinetic model (referred to as the DoD-O'Flaherty model) to derive airborne concentrations of lead that correspond to BLLs for consideration by DoD management in establishing an updated OEL to replace the permissible exposure limit set by OSHA.

DoD requested that the National Academies establish an expert committee to evaluate whether the DoD-O'Flaherty model used to derive airborne lead concentrations from BLLs was appropriate. The committee was asked to consider whether an appropriate model was chosen, whether DoD's modifications to the model were appropriately justified, and whether the assumptions in and inputs to the model were reasonable. The committee was asked not to recommend specific OEL values.

As part of carrying out its task, the committee was asked to provide an overall summary conclusion on DoD's selected approach and the application of the approach for derivation of lead OEL values. It also was asked to address the following specific topics:

- Were the DoD-O'Flaherty model selection, parameterization, and validation appropriate, given the intended purpose—to develop OELs for DoD civilian and military workers?
- Were the inhalation rates used within the DoD-O'Flaherty model appropriate to represent DoD workers (military and civilian) who are occupationally exposed to lead?
- Were background levels of lead in air appropriately accounted for within the DoD-O'Flaherty model and representative of DoD workers who are occupationally exposed to lead?
- Is particle size variation appropriately accounted for within the DoD-O'Flaherty model and representative of lead absorption within the DoD workers (military and civilian) who are occupationally exposed to lead?

In its evaluation of model appropriateness, the committee considered questions posed in its Statement of Task and additional questions it selected from those commonly considered in reviews of PBPK model

aspects. Elements of a biokinetic model that had the greatest impact on the predicted relationship between exposure concentrations of airborne lead and BLLs of adults received the greatest attention. The questions addressed by the committee were organized into four broad categories:

- 1. Was an appropriate model chosen?
- 2. Were structural modifications appropriately justified?
- 3. Were model assumptions and inputs reasonable?
- 4. Was the model application appropriate?

OVERALL CONCLUSION

The committee commends DoD for undertaking a very substantial, deliberative process to establish a lead exposure monitoring program intended to be more protective of its workers who are exposed to lead. The committee recognizes DoD's leadership in applying an innovative approach for establishing an OEL for lead using modern biokinetic modeling to develop quantitative relationships between occupational exposure and BLLs.

Overall, the committee found that the DoD-O'Flaherty modeling approach and application to support the development of an OEL for lead is appropriate. Specifically, an appropriate model was chosen, modifications to the model were appropriately justified, and the model assumptions and inputs were reasonable. The model was confirmed and shown to be sufficiently consistent with experimental data. The committee's conclusions resulting from its main considerations are summarized below. In addition, recommended ways in which DoD can improve the DoD-O'Flaherty model, its application, and documentation are also provided.

WAS AN APPROPRIATE MODEL CHOSEN?

DoD's evaluation of lead biokinetic models focused on the Leggett+ and O'Flaherty models, which are used to estimate BLLs resulting from exposure to lead in environmental media.¹ Both models met criteria for having appropriate compartments or processes for describing lead biokinetics, addressing the essential exposure routes, handling background lead exposure and occupational lead exposure, and calculating the corresponding lead dose-metric. The committee found that both the O'Flaherty and Leggett+ models described available BLLs with similar accuracy. Minor differences were cited by DoD as potential reasons for selecting one model over the other. However, the committee did not recognize that assessment as a basis for determining that either model would be inappropriate for use by DoD in developing a lead OEL.

Both the O'Flaherty model and Leggett+ model have been repeatedly utilized for more than a decade to calculate BLLs, with some modification by individuals using the model. Many of those applications have included separate reviews of the model's appropriateness.

DoD selected and modified the O'Flaherty model to support the development of a lead OEL. The O'Flaherty model has practical aspects that fit the purpose of DoD's modeling approach for supporting development of an OEL. For example, the model could be modified to facilitate probabilistic simulations of DoD worker populations. In addition, the model benefits from its treatment of birth date as a factor in historical exposures (e.g., dynamic background lead exposure).

The approach DoD used to select the model was reasonable and included consideration of the right models. The selection of the O'Flaherty model for use in developing an OEL for lead was appropriate and effectively justified.

¹The Leggett+ model is a version of the Leggett model that was modified by the California Environmental Protection Agency's Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment.

Summary

WERE STRUCTURAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE MODEL JUSTIFIED?

DoD modified the O'Flaherty model code published in 2000 to run sensitivity analyses, Monte Carlo analyses, and other numerical simulations necessary to support the development of an OEL. The committee considered whether those changes might affect the representation of physiological compartments or processes that either alone or together impact lead biokinetics. The committee also considered changes made for supporting model operations, such as Monte Carlo analysis.

Model changes made by DoD in preparing the DoD-O'Flaherty model were justified appropriately. Changes made after publication of the O'Flaherty model in 2000, including those made by DoD, did not alter the model's representations of physiology or biochemical processes that would, in turn, affect representations of lead biokinetics relative to the model version described in 2000.

WERE THE MODEL ASSUMPTIONS AND INPUTS REASONABLE?

Model Consistency, Calibration, and Confirmation

As part of its Statement of Task, the committee was asked to consider whether the DoD-O'Flaherty model was appropriately validated. While the term validation is routinely used, DoD's efforts involved activities best described as model calibration and model confirmation. Calibration is the manipulation of parameter values for independent model variables to obtain a match between the observed and predicted dependent variables. Confirmation is the process of examining the consistency between model simulation results and observational/experimental data. The greater the number and diversity of confirmations that indicate consistency, the greater the likelihood the model accurately reflects the system under study.

To assess model calibration and confirmation, the committee focused on assessing whether the processes and results of selecting parameter values for calibration and confirmation were appropriate, whether appropriate data were used for model confirmation, and whether the consistency of the confirmation outcomes was adequate.

The calibration and confirmation of the DoD-O'Flaherty model were sufficient to conclude that, in general, the inputs and assumptions in the model were reasonable. The consistency of simulated BLLs between the DoD-O'Flaherty model and Leggett+ model provided additional evidence of the reasonableness of the model inputs and assumptions in the DoD-O'Flaherty model.

Though a comprehensive check of the correspondence between the code implementation and the external documentation of the DoD-O'Flaherty was not conducted by the committee, it performed several checks when questions arose about the code, particularly regarding the Monte Carlo analyses, and the committee found that the documentation faithfully reflected the implementation in the code. However a comprehensive error check of the model code is an important aspect of developing a biokinetic model for regulatory application.

DoD should conduct and document an error check of the DoD-O'Flaherty model to assure there are no mathematical errors or errors in the code and equations, and that the model reasonably reproduces the analytic results published in the 2019 model support document.

Particle Size Variation and Absorption Factor for Inhaled Lead

Particle size is an important variable in lead biokinetic modeling because it is an important determinant of the percentage of inhaled lead that is transferred to the blood, which is represented by the inhalation transfer coefficient (ITC).

Studies of airborne lead particle-size distributions, both in firing ranges and in other workplaces show particle diameters ranging from ultrafine size (< $0.1 \mu m$) up to about 80 μm . However, definitive studies of the ITC for lead for a range of particle size distributions and activity levels have yet to be conducted. DoD assumed a point estimate of 30% for the ITC.

The approach used by DoD to assign an ITC value was reasonable, given the absence of definitive studies of the ITC and the wide range of airborne particle sizes expected in DoD occupational settings. However, DoD should consider evaluating the evidence of a wider band of ITCs, including the use of a local sensitivity analysis that is focused on examining the sensitivity of the model output to a higher deposition rate. Evidence supporting a role for tracheo-bronchial absorption of lead would be one factor that could influence the ITC. Strong evidence of a wider range of ITCs would justify inclusion of this factor in the Monte Carlo simulations used to establish the OEL.

An important part of relying on measurements of airborne lead concentrations to estimate BLLs is to use measurement methods that reliably sample the inhalable particle size fraction of airborne lead. The 37-mm plastic cassette is the typical sampling method used in the United States and many other countries for measuring airborne lead concentrations.

The typical 37-mm cassette-sampling device can result in airborne lead measurements that underreport total inhalable lead. DoD should verify that the sampling method used to implement the OEL utilizes a sampling device that measures total inhalable lead and does not suffer from the limitations of the typical 37-mm cassette sample.

Background Airborne Lead Concentrations

DoD updated the previous estimates of background air concentrations of lead used in the O'Flaherty model to reflect recent measurements that would better represent the airborne lead concentrations occurring during the lifetime of the DoD cohort. The updated background airborne lead concentrations used in the DoD-O'Flaherty model were obtained from the most recent U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Integrated Science Assessment for Lead.

The use of airborne lead concentrations from that science assessment is appropriate, with the qualification that, according to EPA, the concentrations are heavily influenced by source monitors in the network. Source-oriented monitoring sites (e.g., next to airports used by aircraft that use leaded aviation fuel) are required near sources of lead emissions that contribute, or are expected to contribute, to ambient air lead concentrations that exceed National Ambient Air Quality Standards.

Therefore, measurements from source monitors may not reflect airborne lead concentrations experienced by DoD workers living and/or working at a distance from those sources. Conversely, they may better represent exposures for those that live in proximity to such sources. A more spatially and temporally informed approach was not available to DoD.

DoD made an additional adjustment, using a population modifier (EXPOSMOD), to background lead exposures to assure that total variability in BLLs was consistent with the BLL population variability reported in the scientific literature. The application of EXPOSMOD jointly to the oral (dietary) and inhalation components of exposure was appropriate. However, because the BLL distribution of the general population has changed over time, the correspondence between the model predictions and measured BLLs (both central tendency and geometric standard deviation [GSD]) are also variable.² Therefore, a single value for EXPOSMOD may not accurately represent all years considered in DoD's modeling approach.

Because dietary intake of lead tends to be the largest source of background lead exposure, estimates of the magnitude of dietary component can have a substantial effect on model estimates of non-occupational lead exposures. Previous versions of EPA's Air Quality Criteria for Lead may provide evidence of lower dietary lead concentrations prior to 1980 compared to those currently used in the model.

In general, background concentrations of airborne lead are appropriately accounted for in the DoD-O'Flaherty model. However, DoD should consider the evidence for a lower or declining BLL GSD and further consider if different values for EXPOSMOD over time may improve the model performance and accuracy of predictions for current and future OELs.

²The modeled GSD is expected to directly influence the derived OELs.

Summary

In addition, DoD should consider reviewing the 1977 and 1986 EPA Air Quality Criteria for Lead to determine if using a lower dietary lead concentration for the pre-1980 background exposures would be more appropriate than those currently used in the DoD-O'Flaherty model.

Inhalation Rates

A key challenge for modeling DoD occupational lead exposure scenarios is to estimate long-term average daily lead intake via inhalation by using inhalation rates that adequately represent an expected range of activity patterns across the TriServices (U.S. Army, Navy, and Air Force). The committee considered two primary factors in evaluating the appropriateness of inhalation rates: (a) whether daily activity patterns were adequately represented, and (b) the strength of the underlying inhalation rate data for deriving distributions of inhalation rates. With respect to representing inhalation rates for daily activity patterns, DoD developed exposure scenarios that encompass activities of both typical workers and those who more likely engage in higher inhalation-rate activities. Under that approach, separate parameter values can be estimated for men and women. DoD intends for the DoD-O'Flaherty model to yield reasonable estimates of the relationship between exposure and BLLs to support the selection of an OEL intended to protect nearly all full-time military and civilian workers, including firing range personnel.

DoD's approach is reasonable for estimating inhalation rates of a general worker population and the use of gender specific inhalations rates is appropriate. The inclusion of the 95th percentile is reasonable to account for the higher activity patterns of some workers in the population.

The committee considered the strengths and limitations of the underlying inhalation rate data used to derive the inhalation rate distributions for derivation of the lead OEL. EPA's Exposure Factors Handbook was the primary source of data on inhalation rates. The handbook reports summary statistics (e.g., arithmetic mean, standard deviation, 95th percentile) grouped by age and gender. Overall, the data sources used to support inhalation rates for the model appear to be fit for purpose. The key studies are relatively current (published 2006 to 2009) and span survey years during the past 15 to 20 years. A major source of uncertainty of these data sources stems from the question of representativeness of the study populations (i.e., general worker populations) to the combination of military and civilian workers. It is conceivable that inhalation rates of military personnel are higher than average when they are engaged in strenuous activities. The extent to which the upper end of the distribution of inhalation rates proposed for derivation of the lead OEL adequately represents such high-end activity patterns of firing range personnel is unclear. This uncertainty may be offset to some degree by the inherent bias associated with the study protocols. Specifically, variability in inhalation rates measured during short periods is likely to be greater than variability in longterm average inhalation rates, which is the focus of DoD's modeling exercise. That may mean that the highend estimate of the probability distribution (truncated at ± 2 standard deviations) from a study used to establish inhalation rates for the DoD analysis likely exaggerates long-term average daily inhalation rates for some military and civilian staff.

The data sources and general approach for developing the probability distributions of inhalation rates are reasonable. However, DoD should consider conducting additional Monte Carlo simulations at the candidate OELs using a distribution of inhalation rates (and cardiac outputs) representative of personnel with higher activity levels, such as those that might occur on a firing range. A comparison of the resulting BLL distributions to those used to derive the OELs should be used to determine the fraction or percentile of DoD workers in a higher activity group that would have BLLs below each target level. The analysis would illustrate the sensitivity of the model to inhalation rates in alternative exposure scenarios and the influence of uncertainty in the inhalation rate on outcomes. It would also help risk managers understand the level of protection afforded individuals with inhalation rates higher than those used to derive the candidate OELs.

Correlation Between Cardiac Output and Ventilation Rate

Ventilation rate and cardiac output are inherently correlated. The committee identified two potential issues related to the independence of cardiac output and ventilation rate in DoD's Monte Carlo analysis. First, if the Monte Carlo simulations included conditions where the expected ratio of inhalation rate to cardiac output was significantly violated, non-plausible physiological conditions could have arisen. The second issue has to do with the relationship between the inhalation rate and the glomerular filtration rate (GFR), which control the most significant rates of lead intake and elimination, respectively. The GFR is highly correlated with cardiac output, which is, in turn, highly correlated with inhalation rate. Changing inhalation rate, without corresponding physiologically accurate changes in cardiac output and GFRs, could establish unrealistic scenarios in which a lead dose rate increases but lead elimination through a correlated process decreases, instead of increasing. A main question is whether either issue would change the final distributions of BLLs for a given airborne lead concentration used to produce the final BLL distributions. The resulting BLL population distributions would then be in error. The committee notes that the coefficient of variation for the inhalation rate (0.2) may be small enough that perhaps there is little impact on the final BLL distribution from the ventilation rate-cardiac output correlation.

Varying cardiac output and ventilation rates may separately create non-physiological conditions in which a lead dose rate and renal clearance of lead do not increase and decrease together. DoD should explore the impact of correlated increases in ventilation rates and cardiac output on BLLs to determine if these parameters should be varied together, rather than independently, in the modeling of BLLs.

Model Documentation

Model documentation was spread among several documents, two technical reports, and the model code itself (which comprises many source-code files). This diversity of sources, style, and level of detail makes scrutiny of the mathematical and computational model rather burdensome. Though examination of the body of documentation permitted an evaluation of the model, it would have been highly desirable to have a single document that detailed the model structure, equations, parameters, and assumptions.

Documentation of the DoD-O'Flaherty model needs to be improved. DoD should prepare a support document for the DoD-O'Flaherty model in a manner similar to EPA's documentation of the Integrated Exposure Uptake Biokinetic Model. In addition, the support document for the DoD-O'Flaherty model should include:

- An illustrative figure representing the compartmental structure, blood flows, and mass transfers.
- Information contained in DoD's response to the committee's information request of 2019.³
- Documentation of an error check of the DoD-O'Flaherty model code, and assurance that the model reasonably reproduces the analytic results published in the 2019 model support document.
- Strategies that would allow the DoD-O'Flaherty model to be usable in the future because the model relies on software that is no longer supported by the company that developed it.

³On June 27, 2019, the committee submitted a written request to DoD for information on the DoD-O'Flaherty modeling approach. The information topics included the DoD-O'Flaherty model structure, changes DoD made to the 2000 version of the O'Flaherty model, the basis for DoD's estimated average removal duration for DoD workers, who exhibited elevated BLLs; DoD job activities that have the potential to result in lead exposure; modeled exposure scenarios; and approaches for selecting model parameters for the Monte Carlo analyses.

Summary

WAS THE APPLICATION OF THE MODEL APPROPRIATE?

In evaluating the overall approach and application of the DoD-O'Flaherty model for derivation of candidate OELs for lead, the committee considered the appropriateness of the model, the model assumptions and inputs, and several other factors.

In general, the committee agreed that the approach of using a biokinetic model to establish monitoring equivalent air concentrations representative of upper-bound BLLs is sound and well justified. The modeled population reasonably represented the worker population that DoD seeks to monitor and protect.

The assumptions and inputs to the model were largely considered appropriate. The approach considered variability in important exposure, physiological, and biokinetic parameters, including each in a Monte Carlo simulation producing likely distributions of resulting BLLs from which an OEL could be established. However, the committee observed that the results of the Monte Carlo analyses were not presented in a manner that gave the reader an appreciation for the prediction intervals or envelope. The results of Monte Carlo analysis would be more useful to the reader if they included mean values of measures with prediction intervals based on model uncertainty and variability/error in the data used for parameterization.

In carrying out its task, the committee's overall conclusion is that the DoD-O'Flaherty modeling approach and application to support the development of a lead OEL are appropriate. The committee's recommendations provide ways in which DoD can improve the DoD-O'Flaherty model, its application, and documentation.

1

Introduction

Human exposure to lead can cause adverse effects in the nervous, cardiovascular, renal, hematologic, immunologic, and reproductive systems. Lead exposure is also known to induce adverse developmental effects in utero.

The primary route of lead exposure in the workplace is through the inhalation of airborne particles containing lead. Worker exposure can be measured by sampling the air concentration of lead within the workers' breathing zone. In order to determine if workers inhale too much lead, industrial or occupational hygienists compare the measured worker exposures to an occupational exposure limit (OEL). The OEL is a general term for a maximum contaminant level in the workplace that is intended to limit exposure concentrations and protect worker health. (See Box 1-1.)

The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) sets and enforces national standards for safety and health in the workplace. In carrying out its mission, OSHA sets 8-hour time-weighted-average (TWA) permissible exposure limits (PELs) as the highest concentration of a chemical to which a worker may be exposed (29 CFR 1910.1000).

In 1978, OSHA set the current PEL for airborne lead at 50 μ g/m³ (29 CFR 1910.1025) based on an assessment of studies that reported adverse health effects at different blood lead levels (BLLs). OSHA considers an average BLL of 40 μ g/dL to be the upper acceptable limit to protect workers from adverse health effects.

PREVIOUS NATIONAL ACADEMIES REPORT ON POTENTIAL HEALTH RISKS TO U.S. DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE FIRING-RANGE PERSONNEL FROM RECURRENT LEAD EXPOSURE

During the decades since the OSHA PEL was set, reviews of the scientific literature reported substantial evidence of a diversity of health effects associated with BLLs at less than 40 μ g/dL (e.g., EPA [2006] and NTP [2012]). In light of the relationships between lead exposure and adverse health effects, the U.S. Department of Defense (DoD) asked the National Academies to evaluate potential health risks to firingrange personnel from recurrent lead exposure and determine whether the current OSHA exposure standard for lead adequately protects DoD firing-range workers. The committee established by the National Academies in response to DoD's request concluded that a BLL of less than 40 μ g/dL (which is implicit in the OSHA standard) is not sufficiently protective of personnel who have repeated lead exposures on firing ranges (NRC 2013). That committee recommended that DoD review its guidelines and practices for protecting workers from lead exposure on firing ranges. That committee also recommended that DoD consider lowering the acceptable BLLs to more stringent levels that reduce the risk of adverse health effects in workers.

DOD'S INITIATIVE TO DEVELOP AIRBORNE LEAD OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE LIMITS

In response to that National Academies report, DoD pursued the development of lower allowable BLLs and lower OELs that would apply to all occupational exposures within DoD, not just firing ranges (Seibert 2019). DoD used a phased approach for developing an OEL for airborne lead (see Figure 1-1).

Introduction

BOX 1-1 Occupational Exposure Limits (OELs)

OELs are set using toxicological data and epidemiologic health effects to define the level at which nearly all workers can be exposed without significant health effects (Jahn et al. 2015; Nims 1999; Ra-machandran 2005). OELs are set by government agencies and nongovernmental organizations with the overall goal of ensuring a safe and healthful work environment (Friis 2016). An OEL is exceeded when the measured concentrations are statistically higher than the 95% upper confidence limit of the 95th percentile of airborne concentrations (Jahn et al. 2015).

OELs do not protect all workers (Perkins 1997) and the quality of OELs depends on the data and information used to set the limit (Jahn et al. 2015). The workers themselves can also affect whether OELs are protective. Physiologic changes within workers, such as pregnancy, will increase the likelihood that the OEL is not protective of the worker. Worker hobbies and non-occupational exposures also increase the likelihood that the OEL is not protective of the worker. Therefore, just having measured exposures lower than the OEL is not a guarantee that the health of workers is protected (Anna 2011). (See Box 3-1.)

As described in Sweeney (2019), the approach comprised revising the risk management options for measured BLLs in DoD occupational settings, developing airborne exposure levels that would be predictive of BLLs of concern, analyzing impacts on DoD's mission and costs associated with lowered BLLs, and selecting and implementing the OEL.

Based on its review of the literature on health effects at BLLs less than 40 μ g/dL, a team assembled by the U.S. Army Public Health Command recommended replacing the OSHA BLL guidelines for worker removal and return to work with more stringent guidelines. The team also provided multiple management recommendations for various BLLs in the range of < 5 to > 80 μ g/dl (USAPHC 2017).

As indicated in Figure 1-1, DoD's approach for developing an OEL for airborne lead involved deriving airborne lead concentrations for BLLs of interest to DoD management. The airborne concentrations were estimated by using a biokinetic model (also referred to as a physiologically-based pharmacokinetic model).¹ Biokinetic modeling provides a mathematical technique for estimating absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion of a chemical in humans. Such models can be used to relate the amount of lead exposure to the amount of lead found in the blood and other tissue at different points in time. The O'Flaherty biokinetic model was recommended for use in OEL development by DoD (Sweeney 2015). Sweeney (2019) describes, in general, how the O'Flaherty model was modified and presents the results of applying the DoD-O'Flaherty model in support of developing a lead OEL for DoD workers.

COMMITTEE'S STATEMENT OF TASK FOR THE REVIEW OF THE DOD-O'FLAHERTY MODEL

DoD requested that a National Academies committee be established to evaluate whether the DoD-O'Flaherty model used to derive airborne lead concentrations from BLLs, as described in Sweeney (2019), was appropriate (see Appendix A for the committee's Statement of Task). The committee also was asked to consider whether an appropriate model was chosen, whether modifications to the model were appropriately justified, and whether the assumptions in and inputs to the model were reasonable. The committee was asked not to recommend specific OEL values.

As part of carrying out its task, the committee was asked to provide an overall summary conclusion on DoD's selected approach and the application of the approach for derivation of lead OEL values. It also was asked to address the following specific topics:

• Were the DoD-O'Flaherty model selection, parameterization, and validation appropriate, given the intended purpose—to develop OELs for DoD civilian and military workers?

¹In this report, the terms physiologically-based pharmacokinetic model and biokinetic model are interchangeable.



FIGURE 1-1 Outline of DoD's approach in the assessment and management of risks of DoD worker health from airborne lead exposure. NOTE: BLL = blood lead level; DoD = U.S. Department of Defense; NRC = National Research Council; OEL = occupational exposure limit; PBPK = physiologically-based pharmacokinetic. SOURCE: Adapted from Sweeney (2019).

- Were the inhalation rates used within the DoD-O'Flaherty model appropriate to represent DoD workers (military and civilian) who are occupationally exposed to lead?
- Were background levels of lead in air appropriately accounted for within the DoD-O'Flaherty model and representative of DoD workers who are occupationally exposed to lead?
- Is particle size variation appropriately accounted for within the DoD-O'Flaherty model and representative of lead absorption within the DoD workers (military and civilian) who are occupationally exposed to lead?

ORGANIZATION OF THE REPORT

In Chapter 2, the committee discusses the approach it used to address the elements of its task, as well as other relevant aspects. In doing so, the committee presents considerations for determining the appropriateness of DoD's selected approach and the application of that approach for derivation of airborne concentrations from BLLs. Chapter 3 presents the committee's evaluation of the specific items listed in its Statement of Task and other relevant aspects. The chapter also provides conclusions and recommendations stemming from the committee's evaluations. 2

Committee's Approach to Its Task

In response to the U.S. Department of Defense's (DoD's) request, the National Academies assembled a committee of eight members (biographical sketches of the members are presented in Appendix B). In the course of preparing its report, the committee held three meetings. Its June 2019 meeting included a public information-gathering session to hear presentations from representatives of DoD, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and the California Environmental Protection Agency on issues relevant to DoD's efforts for developing an occupational exposure limit (OEL) and the use of the DoD-O'Flaherty model to support that activity. In addition, the committee considered relevant written material it received from DoD and other organizations.

It is important to note that the committee was not asked to, nor did it attempt to carry out, a comparative assessment of various modeling approaches to determine if the DoD-O'Flaherty model is the *best* model that could be used for developing an OEL for DoD workers. Consistent with its Statement of Task, the committee focused on evaluating whether DoD's selected modeling approach and the application of the approach were appropriate for deriving candidate lead OELs.

The committee did not perform a comprehensive evaluation of the DoD-O'Flaherty model framework, including the model code, equations, and model variables that define the model. In addition, the committee did not attempt to verify the ability of the model to reproduce results reported in Sweeney (2019), which presents model estimates of the workplace airborne lead concentrations that would correspond to maintaining personnel blood lead levels (BLLs) below various specified concentrations. While such activities are important aspects of developing a biokinetic model for regulatory application, the committee determined that such activities were not necessary to carry out its Statement of Task.

The DoD-O'Flaherty model is intended to derive TWA candidate OELs that would be used to maintain the BLL of the 95th percentile DoD employee below a specified BLL for a working lifetime. The committee did not consider how the model might be used for assessing short-term exposures (e.g., over 1 day or week), because that would be a use of the model that is separate from supporting the establishment of an OEL.

CONSIDERATIONS FOR DETERMINING MODEL APPROPRIATENESS

In its evaluation of model appropriateness, the committee considered questions posed in its Statement of Task and additional questions it selected from those commonly considered in reviews of physiologicallybased pharmacokinetic models (see, e.g., Barton et al. 2007; Chiu et al. 2007; Clark et al. 2004; McLanahan et al. 2012). Selection of additional aspects for review supported a fuller assessment of model appropriateness by providing focus and detail to the broad questions posed by DoD. Additionally, the committee focused its evaluation on the elements of biokinetic modeling that may have the greatest impact on the predicted relationship between exposure concentrations of airborne lead and BLLs of adults. The questions addressed by the committee were organized into four broad categories, which were ordered to reflect DoD's model selection and development process. Presented in the order they are addressed in this report, the questions are:

- Was an appropriate model chosen?
- Were structural modifications appropriately justified?

- Were model assumptions and inputs reasonable?
- Was the model application appropriate?

The committee's final summary conclusions regarding the approach and application of the approach are built from the analyses of those four broad questions. In assessing whether specific aspects of DoD's modeling approach and its application were appropriate or reasonable, the committee often relied on its professional judgment, as it was not feasible to apply specific written standards.

COMMITTEE'S USE OF TERMS

In Sweeney (2015, 2019), the term "model parameter" is used to refer to the components of the model structure and the term "inputs" is used to refer to the parameter values, where some inputs are described as probability distributions for sets of parameters. The committee elected to clarify its charge to evaluate "parameterization" of the model by adopting definitions consistent with EPA's guidance (EPA 2001a; see Box 2-1). The committee used the term "model variable" when referring to a factor used in an equation, whereas "model parameter" is the value assigned to that variable. The committee focused its review on the appropriateness of the parameter values selected to represent point estimates and probability distributions.

The terms validation, verification, calibration, and evaluation are commonly used in reporting the outcomes from an assessment of biokinetic models, such as the DoD-O'Flaherty model. While terms such as verification and validation are routinely and even interchangeably used, these terms have specific meanings (Oreskes et al. 1994; see Box 2-1) and typically do not apply to the development and assessment of most biokinetic models. The committee found that DoD's efforts involved activities best described as model calibration and model confirmation, rather than verification and validation, which can rarely be established for models of open systems (EPA 2009a; Oreskes et al. 1994).

BOX 2-1 Definition of Terms

Calibration—manipulation of parameter values for independent model variables to obtain a match between the observed and predicted dependent variables.

Confirmation—the process of examining the consistency between model simulation results and observational/experimental data. The greater the number and diversity of confirmations that indicate consistency, the greater the likelihood that the model accurately reflects the system under study.

Model variable—a factor used in an equation that is part of the overall biokinetic model functionality. *Parameter value*—the value used as an input to the model; for a model variable described by a single parameter (i.e., point estimate), the parameter value may represent the arithmetic mean or upper percentile of a distribution; for a variable described by a probability distribution, the value represents one of the distribution parameters, as described above, and is referred to as a model parameter.

3

Committee's Review of the DoD-O'Flaherty Model

WAS AN APPROPRIATE MODEL CHOSEN?

The U.S. Department of Defense (DoD) selected and modified the O'Flaherty model (O'Flaherty 1993) to support the development of a lead occupational exposure limit (OEL). The O'Flaherty model is one of several biokinetic models that are used to estimate blood lead levels (BLLs) resulting from exposure to lead in environmental media. For example, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) uses the Integrated Exposure Uptake Biokinetic model for lead in children (EPA 1994; White et al. 1998) and the agency is reviewing the All Ages Lead Model to assess childhood and adult lead exposures (EPA 2001b, 2019). Another biokinetic model is the Leggett+ model, which is a version of the Leggett model that was modified by the California Environmental Protection Agency's Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment to relate airborne lead exposures to BLLs among workers under various exposure conditions (Vork et al. 2013).

To determine if an appropriate model was chosen, the committee reviewed DoD's evaluation of existing lead biokinetic models, which focused on the Leggett+ and O'Flaherty models (Sweeney 2015). Information presented during the committee's public meeting in May 2019 and written material provided by DoD after the meeting were also considered. In its review, the committee focused on the appropriateness of the compartmental structure of the model and processes to represent various aspects of occupational exposure and dynamic background lead concentrations in the context of relating worker lead exposure to BLLs. Prior use of the model for contextually similar analyses and prior review of models was considered evidence of model appropriateness. No effort was made to discriminate between appropriate models and the best model.

The Integrated Exposure Uptake Biokinetic model describes the biokinetics of lead in children 7 and under. The committee agreed with Sweeney (2015) that the model is not useful for lead OEL development in an adult population. EPA's All-Ages Lead Model was under review and was not available for consideration by DoD for model selection. This model remains under review by a panel of the EPA Scientific Advisory Board and was not considered further by the committee.

The remaining models, O'Flaherty and Leggett+, both met criteria for having appropriate compartments or processes for describing lead biokinetics, addressing the essential exposure routes, handling background lead exposure and occupational lead exposure, and calculating the corresponding blood lead dosemetric. Reviewing the comparisons made in Sweeney (2015), the committee found that both the O'Flaherty and Leggett+ models described available BLLs with similar accuracy. Minor differences (such as, in predicting some BLLs for inhalation and lead in urine and bone) were cited in Sweeney (2015) as potential reasons for selecting one model over the other. However, the committee did not recognize that assessment as a basis for determining that either model would be inappropriate for use by DoD in developing a lead OEL.

Both the O'Flaherty model and the Leggett model have been repeatedly utilized for more than a decade to calculate BLLs, with some modification by individuals using the model, including government agencies, such as EPA and their contractors, and the California Department of Industrial Relations. Many of those applications have included separate reviews of the models' appropriateness (see, e.g., EPA 2006).

The O'Flaherty model has practical aspects that fit the purpose of DoD's modeling approach for supporting development of an OEL. For example, the model could be modified to facilitate probabilistic simulations of BLLs of DoD worker populations. In addition, the model benefits from its treatment of birth date as a factor in historical exposures (e.g., dynamic background lead exposure).

The committee considered the consistency between modeled and observed BLLs for workers and nonworkers who were exposed to airborne lead, an important aspect of appropriateness. Adequate consistency was exhibited by the O'Flaherty model in estimating BLLs following community exposures to ambient lead concentrations (Azar et al. 1975) in the 1 to $10 \ \mu g/m^3$ range of interest for DoD (see Figure 3-1).

The approach DoD used to select the model was reasonable and included consideration of the right models. The selection of the O'Flaherty model for use in developing an OEL for lead was appropriate and effectively justified.

WERE STRUCTURAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE MODEL JUSTIFIED?

Modifications of the O'Flaherty model were required to run sensitivity analyses, Monte Carlo analyses, and other simulations necessary to support the development of an OEL. DoD documented changes it had made to the model, and those made after preparation of the O'Flaherty model (O'Flaherty 2000) and before DoD's receipt of the model code. The committee considered whether changes might affect the representation of physiological compartments or processes that either alone or together impact lead biokinetics. The committee also considered changes made for supporting model operations, such as Monte Carlo analysis. Supplemental information provided to the committee by DoD documented all revisions to the model code (DoD 2019).

After reviewing the code changes provided in DoD's documentation, the committee agreed with DoD's summary statement that:

Most of the changes were implemented to allow for the desired Monte Carlo simulations, including the selection of population-specific birth years and gender distributions. Other changes had been added (mostly by Gary Diamond) between the preparation of O'Flaherty (2000) and when DoD received Pb [lead] model code from Dr. Diamond in 2012. The other changes were to change the way two model parameters were computed: post-1975 background air concentrations of Lead and inhalation rate. (DoD 2019, p. 4)



FIGURE 3-1 Simulations of 30-year exposure (from birth) to varying levels of ambient lead. NOTE: ACSL = Advanced Continuous Simulation Language; Pb = lead. SOURCES: Azar et al. (1975), as presented in Sweeney (2015, 2019).

Committee's Review of the DoD-O'Flaherty Model

Model changes made by DoD in preparing the DoD-O'Flaherty model were justified appropriately. Changes made after publication of the O'Flaherty model in 2000, including those made by DoD, did not alter the model's representations of physiology or biochemical process that would, in turn, affect representations of lead biokinetics relative to the model version described in 2000.

WERE THE MODEL ASSUMPTIONS AND INPUTS REASONABLE?

Assessment of a mathematical model is a multifaceted process that often attempts to answer the following questions:

- 1. Does the mathematical representation capture, to some appropriate degree, the underlying process to be simulated?
- 2. Does the model code faithfully represent the intended mathematics?
- 3. Do predictions from the computational model match known exact solutions in limiting cases?
- 4. Are model predictions consistent with relevant experimental measurements to some specified tolerance (calibration and confirmation)?
- 5. Do predictions from the computational model agree with results from comparable, independently developed models (consistency)?

The first two questions, listed above, were outside the scope of the committee's effort. However, the committee notes, as summarized below, the long-term use and multiple reviews of the O'Flaherty model, and general consistency with the Leggett+ model are evidence that the code likely represents the intended mathematics and that the mathematics, to some degree, properly reflects the important underlying processes being simulated.

The third question is impracticable to answer for a complex open-system model. Also, many practitioners of PBPK modeling do not find it useful to examine exact solutions in limiting cases (also referred to as edge cases).

The committee focused on the fourth and fifth questions: whether the processes and results of selecting parameter values for calibration and confirmation were appropriate, whether appropriate data were used for model confirmation, and whether the consistency of the confirmation outcomes was adequate.

Model Calibration, Confirmation, and Consistency

The procedure for model calibration (i.e., manipulation of the independent variables to obtain a match between the observed and predicted dependent variables) in the O'Flaherty model is described in O'Flaherty (1993) and Sweeney (2019). As mentioned above, Sweeney (2019) modified elements of the model structure and several model parameters to add Monte Carlo analysis functionality and incorporate findings from additional studies, but these changes necessitated minimal calibration of the model.

The Bayesian approach is an alternative to the model calibration strategy used by O'Flaherty (1993) and adopted by DoD. The Bayesian approach would provide several benefits:

- Evaluation of estimates of the distribution for each parameter, based on uncertainty in the underlying experimental data and the variability in the model parameter;
- Ability to easily update estimates for parameter distributions with data from other studies; and
- Estimation of parameter distributions over a hierarchy that can include population, study, and individual levels.

A considerable effort would be needed to conduct a Bayesian parameter estimation for this model in a proper manner. Each data set supporting the parameterization would need to be characterized in terms of an appropriate uncertainty model associated with each data point. However, only mean values of key data are usually available in the published literature, without the underlying primary data needed to obtain error

estimates and conduct hierarchical analyses. The committee did not consider a Bayesian approach to be warranted for the DoD-O'Flaherty model because it had no evidence that the approach would or would not significantly change the candidate OELs established from the Monte Carlo simulations.

The O'Flaherty model (a version prior to DoD modifications) was confirmed through comparison of simulated and measured BLLs from 14 studies documented by Sweeney (2015, Table 1, 2019, Table B1). Figures 3-1 and 3-2 present two examples of such comparisons, where lead concentrations in whole blood are expressed as a function of inhaled concentrations. These results are important because airborne lead concentrations are in the region of interest for the DoD exposure scenarios.

The O'Flaherty model–simulated BLLs were similar to those of the Leggett+ model tested under specific conditions (Sweeney 2015). Agreement with the Leggett+ model, which is a lead biokinetic model independently developed by a regulatory agency, was viewed by the committee as additional evidence of the appropriateness of the O'Flaherty model. Consistency with another model of different formulation suggests, but does not prove, that the mathematical formulation is sound.

Overall, based on the range of comparisons conducted, Sweeney (2019) concluded that:

- The O'Flaherty model had an acceptable accuracy (model predictions were, on average, within a factor of two of the data, per IPCS 2010), and
- The O'Flaherty and independently developed Leggett+ model were similar in their ability to simulate BLLs.

The DoD-O'Flaherty model was not calibrated or confirmed for workers with specific biochemical or physiological vulnerabilities, for example, kidney disease, liver disease, or respiratory diseases that might significantly impact lead pharmacokinetics and resulting BLLs. Sweeney (2019) indicates in Section 2.3 that because the DoD-O'Flaherty modeling effort is intended to support the development of an OEL, it is appropriate to consider that an OEL is intended to protect nearly all workers, but is not an absolute guarantee of worker safety. The objective of protecting nearly all workers is consistent with the definition of Threshold Limit Values provided by the American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists (ACGIH 2019; see Box 3-1). Sweeney also reported that the selection of the 95th percentile, which predicted BLL in healthy men and women following full-time, long-term lead exposure, was consistent with established occupational health practices (Sweeney 2019). The committee accepted that DoD's derivation of an OEL for lead was intended to provide a similar level of protection offered by threshold limit values (TLVs) (nearly all workers), and did not further consider whether the biokinetic model provided adequate protection to workers with specific vulnerabilities.

The calibration and confirmation of the DoD-O'Flaherty model were sufficient to conclude that, in general, the inputs and assumptions in the model were reasonable. The consistency of simulated BLLs between the Leggett+ and O'Flaherty models provided additional indirect evidence of the reasonableness of the model inputs and assumptions in the DoD-O'Flaherty model.

Though a comprehensive check of the correspondence between the code implementation and the external documentation of the DoD-O'Flaherty was not conducted by the committee, it performed several checks when questions arose about the code, particularly regarding the Monte Carlo analyses, and the committee found that the documentation faithfully reflected the implementation in the code. However a comprehensive error check of the model code is an important aspect of developing a biokinetic model for regulatory application.

DoD should conduct and document an error check of the DoD-O'Flaherty model to assure there are no mathematical errors or errors in the code and equations, and that the model reasonably reproduces the analytic results published in Sweeney (2019).

Committee's Review of the DoD-O'Flaherty Model



FIGURE 3-2 Comparison of model simulations to experimental data for workers in a lead-acid battery factory. NOTE: ACSL = Advanced Continuous Simulation Language; MATLAB = Matrix Laboratory; Pb = lead. SOURCES: Williams et al. (1969), as presented in Sweeney (2015, 2019).

BOX 3-1 Threshold Limit Values (TLVs)

The American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists (ACGIH) is a charitable scientific organization that advances occupational and environmental health. One example of that effort is issuance of TLVs. According to ACGIH, TLVs refer to airborne concentrations of chemical substances and represent conditions under which it is believed that nearly all workers may be repeatedly exposed, day after day, over a working lifetime, without adverse health effects.

ACGIH recognizes that there will be considerable variation in the level of biological response to a particular chemical substance, regardless of the airborne concentration. Indeed, TLVs do not represent a fine line between a healthy versus unhealthy work environment or the point at which material impairment of health will occur. TLVs will not adequately protect all workers. Some individuals may experience discomfort or even more serious adverse health effects when exposed to a chemical substance at the TLV or even at concentrations below the TLV. There are numerous possible reasons for increased susceptibility to a chemical substance, including age, gender, genetic factors (predisposition), lifestyle choices (e.g., diet, smoking, abuse of alcohol and other drugs), medications, and pre-existing medical conditions (e.g., aggravation of asthma or cardiovascular disease). Some individuals may become more responsive to one or more chemical substances following previous exposures (e.g., sensitized workers). Susceptibility to the effects of chemical substances may be altered during different periods of fetal development and throughout an individual's reproductive lifetime. Some changes in susceptibility may also occur at different work levels (e.g., light versus heavy work) or at exercise-situations in which there is increased cardiopulmonary demand. Additionally, variations in temperature (e.g., extreme heat or cold) and relative humidity may alter an individual's response to a toxicant. The Documentation for any given TLV must be reviewed, keeping in mind that other factors may modify biological responses.

SOURCE: ACGIH (2020).

Particle Size Variation and Absorption Factor for Inhaled Lead

For the amount of airborne lead a person inhales, the fraction that is transferred to the person's blood is a key assumption in the DoD-O'Flaherty model. Inhalation of lead that is adsorbed to, or contained in, airborne particles is deposited in the airways and can be transferred to the blood via two pathways: directly from the alveolar region, and indirectly from the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, after deposited lead moves up the mucocilliary ladder and into the GI tract. In the DoD-O'Flaherty and Leggett+ models, the percentage of inhaled lead that is transferred to the blood is represented by the inhalation transfer coefficient (ITC). The ITC depends on the amount, size, and solubility of deposited lead particles and their location in the extra-thoracic, tracheo-bronchial (TB), and alveolar regions of the respiratory tract after deposition. The region-specific particle deposition fractions depend on particle size distribution and breathing rate. For particles that deposit in the upper airway—a function of particle size—and are later swallowed, conditions in the GI tract also influence the ITC. Particle size is, therefore, an important determinant of the ITC in lead biokinetic modeling and particle sizes can vary significantly in the occupational environment. Studies of airborne lead particles, both in firing ranges (e.g., Lach et al. 2015) and in other workplaces (e.g., Petito Boyce et al. 2017) show distributions of particle diameters ranging from ultrafine size (< 0.1 μ m) up to about 80 μ m.

In evaluating how DoD considered the substantial variability in particle size, the committee focused on how particle size was addressed in derivation of the ITC. This approach was selected because the committee determined it would not be feasible or practical for DoD to derive multiple OELs, each specific to the particle size and breathing rates for individual occupational settings.

A number of approaches have been used by researchers to estimate ITC values. However, definitive studies of the ITC for lead for a range of particle size distributions and activity levels have yet to be conducted. The earliest approach adopted by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) (Carelli et al. 1999; Froines et al. 1986; Hodgkins et al. 1990) has been to assume that the first 12.5 μ g/m³ of inhalation exposure is all submicron particles and 37% of the mass of that deposited fraction is absorbed systemically, while the remainder of the inhalation exposure is assumed to be larger particles that reach the GI tract, where 8% of the mass is absorbed.

Consider, for example, the airborne lead concentration of 72 μ g/m³, labeled as ISR TOX in Lach et al. (2015, Table 1). The ITC is obtained from a weighted average of the submicron concentration of 12.5 μ g/m³ and the concentration attributable to larger particles (72 to 12.5) μ g/m³:

ITC =
$$(12.5/72) \times 0.37 + (59.5/72) \times 0.08 = 0.13$$
 or 13%
(Equation 1)

Several authors have criticized that approach for not using realistic assumptions of particle size distributions and for assigning fractions of submicron particles that were much less than assumed by OSHA (Froines et al. 1986). Other researchers (Vork 2013; Petito-Boyce 2017) used this equation:

 $ITC = [(alveolar deposition fraction) \times (\% lung absorption)] + [(ciliated and head region deposition fraction) \times (\% GI absorption)]$

(Equation 2)

Vork (2013) reviewed previously published literature on lead absorption by various routes and for different particle size distributions in several industries with differing lead operations that generate a range of particle sizes. Hursh et al. (1969) and Gross (1981) estimated values of about 35% for pulmonary absorption. GI absorption fractions reported in the literature varied widely (1% to 80%). According to Vork (2013, p. 28):

This wide range occurs in part because absorption of lead from the gastrointestinal tract depends strongly on a variety of factors, including the level of minerals, fat, protein, and vitamin D present in

Committee's Review of the DoD-O'Flaherty Model

the intestines; the body's iron or zinc status; the amount of lead and the physical and chemical form administered; and the length of fasting. (Leggett 1993)

ITC values were calculated for four different industrial settings (two that generate finer particles and two that generate coarser particles) and five activity levels (resting, sitting, light work, moderate work, heavy work). Based on those previous studies and the calculations for the four industries (Liu et al. 1996; Park and Paik 2002; Spear et al. 1998a,b) and activity levels, Vork (2013) assumed a value of 30% absorption for GI absorption and 100% absorption for pulmonary absorption. The 30% GI absorption value represented a 24-hour TWA absorption of 30%, assuming 10 hours fasting (50% absorption fraction [AF]), 10 hours with liquids between meals (19% AF), 2 hours intake with solids (12% AF), and 2 hours in which no lead is swallowed (see Vork et al. 2013, p. 82). Those assumptions resulted in an ITC value of 30% using Equation 2 above. In summary, approximately 9.3% of the inhaled mass is assumed to be deposited in the alveolar region and distributed to blood with 100% efficiency, and 66.3% is removed by ciliary action or secretions, swallowed, and deposited in the GI tract, where 30% is distributed to blood (and 70% is excreted). The balance (i.e., 24.4%) is exhaled. Based on those assumptions, collectively, ITC is assumed to be 30%, rounding 29.2% to one significant figure.

Lach et al. (2015) measured airborne lead particle size distributions in firing ranges and found that 49% of the total inhaled lead is deposited in the entire respiratory tract, while 12% is deposited in the alveolar region (i.e., 37% is deposited in the extra-thoracic and TB regions).

Using the airborne lead concentration of 72 μ g/m³ from Lach et al. (2015) and Equation 2 an ITC value of 0.37 × 30 + 0.12 × 100 = 23.1% is calculated. This is somewhat less than the ITC value of 30% assumed for the DoD-O'Flaherty model.

Petito-Boyce (2017) used an approach similar to Vork (2013) except that they assumed a value of 8% absorption for GI absorption and 100% absorption for pulmonary absorption. These assumptions were considered to be consistent with the O'Flaherty (1993) model.

Using the 72 μ g/m³ from Lach et al. (2014) and the Petito-Boyce (2017) method, the overall absorption percentage is $0.37 \times 8 + 0.12 \times 100 = 15\%$. This is considerably less than the ITC of 30% assumed for the DoD-O'Flaherty model.

Of the three methods described above, the method used by Vork (2013) seems to be the most defensible, because it is based on studies of pulmonary and GI tract absorption. In addition, the Multi-path Particle Dosimetry model (ARA 2012) that was used to estimate the proportion of inhaled lead particles that deposits in the head, ciliated regions of the lung, and the alveoli represents a range of activity levels. The method is also the most conservative in that the estimate used is higher than that resulting from the alternate methods.

Some evidence that chemicals (e.g., drugs) deposited in the TB region might be absorbed systemically is provided by Borghardt et al. (2015). If upon further evaluation the evidence is sufficiently supportive that deposited lead could also be absorbed, it may be appropriate to assume that some fraction of TB-deposited lead is absorbed at that location, instead of in the gut.

The approach used by DoD to assign an ITC value was reasonable, given the absence of definitive studies of the ITC and the wide range of airborne particle sizes expected in DoD occupational settings. However, DoD should consider evaluating the evidence of a wider band of ITCs, including the use of a local sensitivity analysis that is focused on examining the sensitivity of the model output to a higher deposition rate. Evidence supporting a role for TB absorption of lead would be one factor that could influence the ITC. Strong evidence of a wider range of ITCs would justify inclusion of this factor in the Monte Carlo simulations used to establish the OEL.

The use of a reliable method to sample the inhalable particle size fraction of airborne lead is an important aspect of estimating BLLs from airborne lead concentrations. The 37-mm plastic cassette is the typical sampling method used in the United States and many other countries for measuring airborne lead concentrations. A known limitation of the cassette sampler could provide airborne lead measurements that underreport total inhalable lead. In these devices, particles enter a narrow inlet and are collected on a filter

medium in the cassette. The filter is weighed before and after sampling to determine the amount of particulate matter collected, prior to analysis for lead. However, a significant fraction of the particles entering the sampler are not collected on the filter because they are trapped on the walls of the cassette, and are thus unaccounted for (Ashley and Harper 2014; Vincent 1999).

The typical 37-mm cassette-sampling device can result in airborne lead measurements that underreport total inhalable lead. DoD should verify that the sampling method used to implement the OEL utilizes a sampling device that measures total inhalable lead and does not suffer from the limitations of the typical 37-mm cassette sample.

Background Concentrations of Airborne Lead

Sweeney (2019) updated the previous estimates of background concentrations of airborne lead used in O'Flaherty model to reflect recent measurements that would better represent the airborne lead concentrations occurring during the lifetime of the DoD worker cohort. The updated background concentrations of airborne lead used in the DoD-O'Flaherty model were obtained from the most recent EPA Integrated Science Assessment for Lead (EPA 2013). The background air concentrations in the model appear to match the observed data in the 2013 EPA report (see Figure 3-3).

The use of airborne lead concentrations from EPA (2013) is appropriate, with the qualification that the lead concentrations selected are approximately three to four times higher than general ambient concentrations in the post 1995 period because, according to EPA (2013), they are heavily influenced by source monitors in the network. Source-oriented monitoring sites are required near sources of lead emissions that contribute, or are expected to contribute, to ambient air lead concentrations that exceed National Ambient Air Quality Standards. An example of such a monitoring location is near airports used by aircraft that use leaded aviation fuel.

Therefore, measurements from source monitors may not reflect airborne lead concentrations experienced by DoD workers living and/or working at a distance from those sources. Conversely, they may better represent exposures for those that live in proximity to such sources. A more spatially and temporally informed approach may not have been available to DoD. The committee notes that, as indicated in Sweeney (2019) Section 4.1, the use of ambient lead concentrations from EPA (2013) resulted in BLL values that aligned more closely to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2009-2010 BLL data (CDC 2012) than those predicted using older air concentration data in the O'Flaherty model.

DoD made an additional adjustment to background lead exposures, using a population modifier (EXPOSMOD), so that total variability in BLLs was consistent with the BLL population variability reported by Maddaloni et al. (2005). This adjustment was intended to assure that total variability in simulated BLL, the product of variability in background exposure and variability in key physiological and biochemical processes, was properly represented in the exposure distributions used to select the upper bounds (e.g., 95th percentile) on BLL for OEL derivation. Variability in physiological and biochemical processes alone was found to be insufficient to describe the observed variability in BLLs (Maddaloni et al. 2005). The application of EXPOSMOD jointly to the oral (dietary) and inhalation components of exposure was appropriate because the objective was to assure variability in total exposure contributed to total variability in BLL. However, because the BLL distribution of the general population has changed over time, as reported by Maddaloni (2005) and EPA (2017), the correspondence between the model predictions and measured BLLs (both central tendency and geometric standard deviation [GSD]) are also variable. Therefore, a single value for EXPOSMOD may not accurately represent all years considered in DoD's modeling approach. The model GSD is expected to directly influence the derived OELs.

Because dietary intake of lead tends to be the largest source of background lead exposure, estimates of the magnitude of the dietary component can have a substantial effect on model estimates of non-occupational lead concentrations. Previous versions of EPA's Air Quality Criteria for Lead (EPA 1977, 1986) may provide evidence of lower dietary lead concentrations prior to 1980 compared to those currently used in the model.

Committee's Review of the DoD-O'Flaherty Model

In general, background concentrations of airborne lead are appropriately accounted for in the DoD-O'Flaherty model.

However, DoD should consider the evidence for a lower or declining BLL GSD and further consider if different values for EXPOSMOD over time may improve the model performance and accuracy of predictions for current and future OELs.

In addition, DoD should consider reviewing the 1977 and 1986 EPA Air Quality Criteria for Lead to determine if using a lower dietary lead concentration for the pre-1980 background exposures would be more appropriate than those currently used in the DoD-O'Flaherty model.

Inhalation Rates

A key challenge for modeling DoD occupational lead exposure scenarios is to estimate long-term average daily lead intake via inhalation by using inhalation rates that adequately represent an expected range of activity patterns across the TriServices. The committee considered two primary factors in evaluating the appropriateness of inhalation rates: (1) whether daily activity patterns were adequately represented, and (2) the strength of the underlying inhalation rate data for deriving distributions of inhalation rates.

With respect to representing inhalation rates for daily activity patterns, DoD elected to focus on exposure scenarios that encompass activities of both typical workers and those who more likely engage in higher inhalation-rate activities. That approach was properly fit for the purpose of developing an OEL intended to protect "nearly all" full-time military and civilian workers, including firing range personnel (Sweeney 2019, p. 3).

EPA's *Exposure Factors Handbook* (EPA, 2011) was the primary source of data on inhalation rates cited by Sweeney (2019). The handbook reports summary statistics (e.g., arithmetic mean, standard deviation, 95th percentile) grouped by age and gender. Table 3-1 lists the studies from EPA (2011) used in Sweeney (2019) to develop age and sex-dependent central tendency inhalation rates.



FIGURE 3-3 Background airborne lead concentrations in the United States. SOURCE: Sweeney (2019, p. 60).

TABLE 3-1 Studies Used in Sweeney (2019) to Develop Age and Sex-Dependent Central Tendency Inhalation Rates

	• • • • •	1	
Study	Table in EPA (2011)	Age Groups	Sample Size
Brochu et al. (2006)	6-5	All	2,210
Arcus-Arth and Blaisdell (2007)	6-11	< 11 years of age	Not specified
Stifelman et al. (2007)	6-13	All	Large
EPA (2009b)	6-16	All	Large

Copyright National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Sweeney (2019, pp. 54-55) evaluated the performance of the DoD-O'Flaherty model with the following inhalation rates:

- Central-tendency inhalation rate of about 18 m³/day for men and about 14 m³/day for women, and
- 95th percentile rate for men is 24.1 m^3 /day for men and 18.7 m^3 /day for women.

To interpolate inhalation rates between the age groups, Sweeney (2019) applied 6th order polynomial functions to describe the central tendency average daily inhalation rates as a function of age, using separate functions for males and females. Sweeney (2019) assumed that inter-individual variability in inhalation rates for each age group is described by a normal distribution. The coefficient of variation (CV) for each distribution was estimated directly from summary statistics (i.e., arithmetic mean and standard deviation or 95th percentile), and resulted in a weighted-average CV of 0.20. Gender related differences in inhalation rates were assumed to be negligible until age 11 so the averaged male-female data from Arcus-Arth and Blaisdell (2007) was used to reflect both males and females. To prevent inhalation-rate driven declines in BLL for 61 and older folks, inhalation rates for ages 51 to < 61 years were used as surrogates.

DoD's approach is reasonable for estimating inhalation rates of a general worker population and the use of gender specific inhalations rates is appropriate. The inclusion of the 95th percentile is reasonable to account for the higher activity patterns of some workers in the population.

The committee considered the strengths and limitations of the underlying inhalation rate data used to derive the inhalation rate distributions for derivation of the lead OEL (EPA 2011; Sweeney 2019). The observations, summarized in Table 3-2, formed the basis for the committee's determination of the appropriateness of the inhalation rates used to support the development of a lead OEL.

Overall, the data sources used to support inhalation rates for the model appear to be fit for purpose. The key studies listed in Table 3-1 are relatively current (published 2006 to 2009) and span survey years during the past 15 to 20 years. A major source of uncertainty of these data sources stems from the question of representativeness of the study populations (i.e., general worker populations) to the combination of military and civilian workers. It is conceivable that inhalation rates of military personnel are higher than average when they are engaged in strenuous activities. The extent to which the upper end of the distribution of inhalation rates proposed for derivation of the lead OEL adequately represents such high-end activity patterns of firing range personnel is unclear. This uncertainty may be offset to some degree by the inherent bias associated with the study protocols, as discussed in EPA (2011) (see Table 3-2, Item 9). Specifically, variability in inhalation rates, which is the focus of DoD's modeling exercise. That may mean that the high-end estimate of the probability distribution (truncated at ± 2 standard deviations) from a study used to establish inhalation rates for the DoD analysis likely exaggerates long-term average daily inhalation rates for some military and civilian staff.

The data sources and general approach for developing the probability distributions of inhalation rates are reasonable. However, DoD should consider conducting additional Monte Carlo simulations at the candidate OELs using a distribution of inhalation rates (and cardiac outputs) representative of personnel with higher activity levels, such as those that might occur on a firing range. A comparison of the resulting BLL distributions to those used to derive the OELs should be used to determine the fraction or percentile of DoD workers in a higher activity group that would have BLLs below each target level. The analysis would illustrate the sensitivity of the model to inhalation rates in alternative exposure scenarios and the influence of uncertainty in the inhalation rate on outcomes. It would also help risk managers understand the level of protection afforded individuals with inhalation rates higher than those used to derive the candidate OELs.

Item	Element	Description	Relevance to Parameterization
1		Results from the four studies listed in Table 3-1 are in general agreement; three studies provide data on adults.	↑ confidence
2	Consistency in Estimates Using Different Methods	Estimation techniques include reporting disappearance rates of oral doses of doubly labeled water (DLW) $({}^{2}\text{H}_{2}\text{O}$ for water output and $\text{H}_{2}{}^{18}\text{O}$ for water output plus carbon dioxide production rates) in urine, monitored by gas-isotope-ratio mass spectrometry for an aggregate period of more than 30,000 days. DLW data were complemented with indirect calorimetry and nutritional balance requirements (EPA 2011).	↑ confidence
3		Some researchers estimated inhalation rates using a metabolic method and energy intake data (EPA 2011, see pp. 6-8, Equation 6-2).	↑ confidence
4	Independent Review	ndependent Review EPA (2011, Table 6-3) assigns an overall confidence rating of <i>medium</i> , noting that the four key studies provide a larger data set than evaluations conducted prior to 2011, and that the cohorts are representative of a broad age range for the general U.S. population.	
5		Similar to values selected by DoD, mean values for adults range from 12.2 m ³ /day (81 years and older) to 16.0 m ³ /day (31 to < 51 years) and 95th percentile values for adults range from 15.7 m ³ /day (81 years and older) to 21.4 m ³ /day (31 to < 41 years) (EPA 2011).	↑ confidence
6	Comparability	California EPA used a higher inhalation rate, 26 m ³ /day, for Leggett+ model (Vork et al. 2013), more similar to the 95th percentile than the mean. Based on a time-weighted average of 10 hours of moderate activity, 6 hours of light activity, and 8 hours of sedentary activity. The California Environmental Protection Agency states this may underestimate rates for workers with jobs involving strenuous activity, depending on "breathing patterns, lung morphology, and other factors" (Vork et al. 2013, p. 22).	↓ confidence
7		Industrial Hygiene module of the Defense Occupational and Environmental and Health Readiness System, September through November 2016, provides data on sex and birth year of individuals at DoD workplaces (by service) where lead hazards were identified.	↑ confidence
8	Relevance to Target Population	Data extracted from the Industrial Hygiene module appears to be most relevant to a target population that engages in a wide range of activities (i.e., military and civilian workers combined); it is unclear if even the upper percentiles of a distribution derived from these data are sufficiently representative of a distribution of inhalation rates for a receptor group that routinely engages in more strenuous activities (e.g., military at a firing range).	↓ confidence
9	Chronic Exposure	EPA (2011) notes that the 95th percentiles are highly uncertain and recommends caution if used to represent long-term exposures.	↓ confidence

TABLE 3-2 Key Elements of the Data Sources Used by DoD to Develop Age and Sex-Dependent Inhalation Rates

23

Maximum Binding Capacity of Red Blood Cells for Lead

One of the key parameters influencing potential variability of observed BLLs is red blood cell (RBC) binding affinity and capacity (Sweeney 2019). Saturable binding of lead to RBC proteins contributes to an increase in the ratio of plasma-lead to whole-blood-lead with increasing exposure levels (e.g., Bergdahl et al. 1997, 1999). This relationship may have important health implications because plasma lead will continue to increase (and potentially distribute to the brain and other sensitive organs) at a linear rate above the saturation point for RBC protein binding.

The DoD-O'Flaherty model described RBC binding of lead with two terms, maximum binding capacity and half-saturation concentration. Point estimates for these variables were obtained from O'Flaherty (1993). To develop a probability distribution, Sweeney (2019, p. 6) states: "RBC binding (affinity and capacity) for lead and hematocrit were considered together, and the de Silva (1981) data on ratios of plasmalead and RBC-lead concentrations in 103 human subjects were selected as appropriate surrogates for the combined variability of these parameters." Overall, the weighted coefficient of variation (CV) was 0.4 across the range of BLLs. A normal distribution for binding capacity was applied with this CV and truncation limits set at ± 2 standard deviations.

The approach DoD used to describe variability in RBC binding is reasonable, given that BLLs approaching the saturation point for RBC protein binding are unlikely for purposes of deriving the OEL.

Steady State and Periodicity

In deriving candidate OELs, DoD calibrated an ambient lead exposure concentration to which workers were assumed to be exposed by inhalation for 24 hours per day, 365 days per year during a working lifetime of at least 45 years, in addition to exposures to background concentrations of airborne lead. In contrast, OSHA (2011) considers an employee's working life to comprise 8 hours per day, 5 days per week, and 48 weeks per year for 45 years. To adjust the continuous ambient exposure scenario to reflect OSHA's standard workplace scenario, DoD applied an adjustment factor of 4.56 to the acceptable ambient lead concentration in the workplace: $[4.56 = (24 \text{ hours/day} \times 365 \text{ days})/(8 \text{ hours/day} \times 5 \text{ days/week} \times 48 \text{ weeks})]$ (see Sweeney 2019, Section 3.1.7.1).

DoD's approach has the advantage of saving computing time, because much more time would be needed for simulating OSHA's exposure scenario with multiple periods of being on or off work. The committee considered the potential that the constant exposure scenario implemented by DoD may overpredict BLLs, and that the 48-week versus 52-week exposure may underpredict BLLs for some fraction of the worker population. In response to the committee's request for additional information, DoD (2019) reported that test simulations conducted during development of the final simulations showed no significant difference between BLLs obtained from the constant exposure scenario (168 hours/week) with adjustment for occupational exposure and the occupational exposure scenarios of 40 hours per week. (A quantification of the difference was not provided.) DoD did not run model scenarios to compare results for exposure scenarios of 48 weeks versus 52 weeks. DoD (2019) noted that, at most, model estimates would need to be adjusted by 8% (i.e., 52/48), under the unlikely assumption that all 20 days of non-exposure occur consecutively. DoD further noted that a more likely percent difference would be within the rounding error of a candidate OEL designation of one significant figure.

DoD's exposure scenario approach is appropriate. DoD's use of an assumption of 48 weeks per year would theoretically result in an underprediction of no more than 8% and only if all 20 days off were taken consecutively, which is unlikely.

Gender Distribution of Exposed Worker Population

The distribution of men and women is a critical input into the Monte Carlo simulations because biokinetic differences between the genders produce lower BLLs for women for a given air lead exposure Committee's Review of the DoD-O'Flaherty Model

(Sweeney 2019). Separate OELs would be necessary for populations that were 100% male or 100% female under these conditions. There are two potential issues with the selected male-female distribution. First, did the selected distribution adequately represent the gender distribution of DoD workers that the OEL is intended to protect? Secondly, will the gender distribution result in candidate OELs that are reasonably applicable to both men and women? DoD developed a gender distribution of 8% females and 92% males for lead-exposed workers exposed based on the industrial hygiene module of the Defense Occupational and Environmental and Health Readiness System (DOEHRS) (Sweeney 2019, Section 3.1.7.2). Because of the biokinetic differences between males (higher BLL) and females (lower BLL) for a given air lead exposure, an OEL based on this gender distribution would be somewhat lower compared to an OEL derived only for women. In contrast, such an OEL would be slightly higher compared to an OEL derived only for males. Under the conditions of DoD OEL derivation, which assumes no gender differences in susceptibility to lead, OELs derived using the DoD's selected gender distribution would be reasonably applicable to both genders.

The gender distribution selected by DoD based on 2016 information on lead exposed DoD workers documented in a DoD database is sufficiently representative of the worker population for developing candidate OELs.

Randomness in Birth Year

Within the DoD-O'Flaherty model, an individual's year of birth has a strong influence on BLLs through several factors:

- Amount of accumulated lead in the body owing to historical changes in exposures to background concentrations of airborne lead and the duration of potential occupational and background exposure;
- Body mass, and hence the associated mass of individual tissues;
- Rate of change of body mass; and
- Number of factors associated with the bone (a reservoir for lead), including the bone mass and rates of change of mass and remodeling.

To accommodate an inclusion of a distribution of birth dates representative of the DoD population, a model variable was introduced that allows sampling of birth years from a representative population distribution. The distribution for this variable was represented as a uniform distribution between 0 and 1. A value of 0 corresponded to selection of the earliest birth year in the distribution, whereas a value of 0.5 would correspond to selection of the median birth year in the distribution. The model was modified to allow for birth year to be calculated as a function of earliest birth year and a 6th-order polynomial equation. The distribution of birth year from lead-exposed U.S. Army personnel (military and civilians) was derived from the fall 2016 DOEHRS database and used to represent the overall DoD population of lead exposed workers (Sweeney 2019, Appendix D).

The use of the birth-year variable, assumed distribution of the variable, and associated equations result in an adequate representation of the historical exposure of population and their age-dependent pharmacokinetics. This approach also permitted the incorporation of data-driven year of birth distributions and specification of either individuals' ages or years of birth as inputs for simulations.

Sensitivity Analysis

As indicated in Sweeney (2019), the variables chosen for the Monte Carlo analyses were chosen based on a series of six local sensitivity analyses. In local sensitivity analyses, single variables are sequentially changed to determine their individual impact on model outcomes. Alternatively, global sensitivity analysis is an approach that decomposes the variance of the output of the model into fractions that can be attributed

to inputs or sets of inputs. This helps to identify not just the individual parameter's sensitivities but also the affect and sensitivity from the interactions between the parameters.

As part of the sensitivity analysis, a rank correlation test was conducted to quantify the dependence of key model outputs to model variables, resulting in a set of correlation coefficients. The higher the absolute value of a coefficient, the stronger the relationship between the corresponding variable and output. Often a cut-off value is chosen, above which variables are deemed to be influential and those below as non-influential. The cut-off chosen for the DoD analysis (0.2) was reasonable in this context. The effective cut-off for including variables in the probabilistic analysis was \pm 0.1 because model variables in the 0.1 to 0.2 range were included (DoD 2019).

The sensitivity analysis used to identify the most influential model parameters for Monte Carlo analysis was appropriately conducted. Although a more comprehensive and computationally costly approach (Global Sensitivity Analysis) could possibly have been used, the committee could not conclude that a global sensitivity analysis would have produced different results than those obtained by using a series of local sensitivity analyses.

Correlation Between Cardiac Output and Ventilation Rate

Ventilation rate and cardiac output are inherently correlated (e.g., see Figure 3-4). The committee identified two potential issues related to the independence of cardiac output and ventilation rate in the Monte Carlo analysis in Sweeney (2019). First, if the Monte Carlo simulations included conditions where the expected ratio of inhalation rate to cardiac output was significantly violated, non-plausible physiological conditions could have arisen. The second issue has to do with the relationship between the inhalation rate and the glomerular filtration rate (GFR), which control the most significant rates of lead intake and elimination, respectively. The GFR is highly correlated with cardiac output (Ackermann 1978), which is, in turn, highly correlated with inhalation rate. Changing inhalation rate, without corresponding physiologically accurate changes in cardiac output and GFRs, could establish unrealistic scenarios in which a lead dose rate increases but lead elimination through a correlated process decreases, instead of increasing. A main question is whether either issue would change the final distributions of BLLs for a given airborne lead concentration used to produce the final BLL distribution. The resulting BLL population distributions would then be in error. The committee notes that the inhalation rate CV (0.2) may be small enough that perhaps there is little impact on the final BLL distributions from the ventilation rate-cardiac output correlation.



FIGURE 3-4 Regression of mean ventilation on mean cardiac output for exercise tests. NOTE: R = 0.92, $P < 10^{-5}$. SOURCE: Cummin et al. (1986). Reprinted with permission; copyright 1986, *Journal of Physiology*.

Copyright National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Committee's Review of the DoD-O'Flaherty Model

Varying cardiac output and ventilation rates may separately create unlikely physiological conditions in which a lead dose rate and renal clearance of lead do not increase and decrease together. DoD should explore the impact of correlated increases in ventilation rates and cardiac output on BLLs to determine if these parameters should be varied together, rather than independently, in the modeling of BLLs.

Glomerular Filtration Rate and Urinary Lead Elimination

Sweeney (2019, Appendix C) describes its GFR input distribution to Monte Carlo implementation as a normal distribution with a CV of 0.3 (30%). That appendix cites several previous Monte Carlo analyses for biokinetic modeling that use this CV as what appears to be a rounded default value. Other literature is supportive of this CV modeling estimate. For example, Peters et al. (2012) describe a population of healthy kidney donors across a wide age range (20-70 years) having a GFR CV in the range of 0.2. The CV in healthy adults engaging in active military duty may be even smaller than 0.2, given the more limited age range engaged in this activity. Thus, a CV of 0.3 appears to be a reasonable upper bound estimate for the variability in GFR for Monte Carlo analysis.

The committee explored a potential concern that underprediction of urinary lead concentrations by the DoD-O'Flaherty model (Sweeney 2019, Appendix B) was consistent with underestimation of lead excretion. The committee concluded that underrepresentation of urinary lead concentrations by the model was not evidence of underprediction or urinary elimination of lead. Measured urine lead concentrations (mass/volume) alone do not represent urinary elimination rates (mass/time) without the corresponding urine volumes or, over time, urine flow rates. Similarly, plots of biokinetic-simulated urinary lead concentrations are dependent on measured urine flowrates (volume/time, rarely available) to convert mass elimination rates (mass/time) to urine concentrations (mass/volume). Thus, there is uncertainty in the simulation of urine lead concentrations in the absence of urine flowrate data for the study cohort.

Variability in GFR was represented appropriately in the derivation of candidate OELs. Comparisons of modeled and measured urine concentrations were not necessarily informative about lead mass excretion. However, the ability of the DoD-O'Flaherty model to predict long-term, bone-lead concentrations and BLLs supports the conclusion that net lead elimination rates, dominated by urinary lead excretion rates, are not significantly under or over predicted by the biokinetic model. Uncertainty regarding these rates and differences across models are not expected to create a substantial modeling uncertainty with respect to model estimated relationships between BLLs and lead concentrations in inhaled air.

Characterization of DoD Worker Populations Exposed to Lead at the Candidate OELs

To inform occupational health managers, Sweeney (2019, Section 4.4) presented simulations to illustrate the predicted time series of BLLs in DoD workers resulting from exposures to various airborne lead concentrations. Figure 4 in Sweeney (2019) includes graphs of the predicted time course of BLLs in U.S. adult males born in 2000, using central tendency values for exposure to background concentrations of airborne lead or lead concentrations at various candidate OELs for 1920 hours of occupation exposure per year for 45 years. To supplement those graphs, DoD should consider developing tables for workers born in 2000 that include the mean, median, interquartile range, and 95th percentile BLLs at various candidate OELs for:

- Men and women separately, and
- Various combinations of men and women that might comprise a future DoD workforce.

In addition, DoD should consider developing data tables or graphs of predicted BLL time series of hypothetical cohorts of DoD workers who have been exposed to lead in the workplace in the past and would be exposed at various candidate OELs in future years. For example, tables or graphs could

illustrate predicted BLL trends for cohorts of individuals whose ages are 28, 38, and 48 years old, and who were exposed only to background lead concentrations up to age 18, followed by lead exposure at 50 μ g/m³ during full-time work for 10, 20, or 30 years, respectively, and then exposure to lead in the workplace at a candidate OEL, beginning in 2020 until the end of their working years. Alternative cohorts could be constructed based on knowledge of past lead exposures in DoD workplaces.

Model Documentation

Model documentation was spread among several documents, including O'Flaherty (1993, 2000), two technical reports (Sweeney 2015, 2019), and the model code itself (which comprises many source-code files). This diversity of sources, style, and level of detail makes scrutiny of the mathematical and computational model rather burdensome. However, assuming results presented in the Sweeney documents, noted above, resulted from running the exact source code available, the computer code itself (not necessarily the comments within the body of the code) is the *ultimate truth* regarding the model implementation.

Though examination of the body of documentation permitted an evaluation of the model, it would have been highly desirable to have a single document that detailed the model structure, equations, parameters, and assumptions. An exemplar of such documentation is the *Technical Support Document: Parameters and Equations Used in the Integrated Exposure Uptake Biokinetic Model for Lead in Children* (EPA 1994).

In addition, as indicated in Sweeney (2019), DoD-O'Flaherty model simulations were conducted using acs1X model code (Advanced Continuous Simulation Language, AEgis Technologies Group, Inc). However, acs1X software is no longer supported by AEgis Technologies. Strategies are needed that would allow the DoD-O'Flaherty model to be usable in the future.

Documentation of the DoD-O'Flaherty model needs to be improved. DoD should prepare a support document for the DoD-O'Flaherty model in a manner similar to EPA's documentation of the Integrated Exposure Uptake Biokinetic Model in EPA (1994). In addition, the support document for the DoD-O'Flaherty model should include:

- An illustrative figure representing the compartmental structure, blood flows, and mass transfers.
- Information contained in DoD's response to the committee's information request (DoD 2019).¹
- Documentation of an error check of the DoD-O'Flaherty model code, and assurance that the model reasonably reproduces the analytic results published in Sweeney (2019).
- Strategies that would allow the DoD-O'Flaherty model to be usable in the future.

WAS THE APPLICATION OF THE MODEL APPROPRIATE?

In evaluating the overall approach and application of the DoD-O'Flaherty model for derivation of candidate OELs for lead, the committee considered the appropriateness of the model, the model assumptions and inputs, and several other factors.

In general, the committee agreed that the approach of using a biokinetic model to establish monitoring equivalent air concentrations representative of upper-bound BLLs is sound and well justified. The modeled population reasonably represented the worker population that DoD seeks to monitor and protect.

The assumptions and inputs to the model were largely considered appropriate. The approach considered variability in important exposure, physiological, and biokinetic parameters, including each in a Monte Carlo simulation producing likely distributions of resulting BLLs from which candidate OELs could be

¹On June 27, 2019, the committee submitted a written request to DoD for information on the DoD-O'Flaherty modeling approach. The information topics included: the DoD-O'Flaherty model structure, changes DoD made to the 2000 version of the O'Flaherty model, the basis for DoD's estimated average removal duration for DoD workers, who exhibited elevated BLLs; DoD job activities that have the potential to result in lead exposure; modeled exposure scenarios; and approaches for selecting model parameters for the Monte Carlo analyses.

Committee's Review of the DoD-O'Flaherty Model

established. However, the committee observed that the results of the Monte Carlo analyses were not presented in a manner that gave the reader an appreciation for the prediction intervals or envelope. The results of a Monte Carlo analysis would be more useful to the reader if they included mean values of measures with prediction intervals based on model uncertainty and variability/error in the data used for parameterization.

As noted in Sweeney (2019), the OEL is intended to protect nearly all workers, but is not an absolute guarantee of worker safety. There was no specific indication that the modeling approach was designed to protect specific vulnerable groups, for example, those with altered patterns of particle deposition in their respiratory systems (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) or reduced renal elimination (kidney disease). However, use of the upper 95th percentile BLL for establishing an OEL is consistent with the approach followed by ACGIH in setting TLVs for which it is believed that nearly all workers may be repeatedly exposed, day after day, over a working lifetime, without adverse health effects. Also, in most cases, DoD's modeling assumptions would tend to err in favor of estimating higher BLLs for a given exposure, providing some additional reassurance.

SUMMARY CONCLUSION

The committee commends DoD for undertaking a very substantial, deliberative process to establish a lead exposure monitoring program intended to be more protective of its workers who are exposed to lead. The committee recognizes DoD's leadership in applying an innovative approach for establishing an OEL for lead using modern biokinetic modeling to develop quantitative relationships between occupational exposure and BLLs.

Overall, the committee found that the DoD-O'Flaherty modeling approach and application to support the development of an OEL for lead are appropriate. Specifically, an appropriate model was chosen, modifications to the model were appropriately justified, and the model assumptions and inputs were reasonable. The model was confirmed and shown to be sufficiently consistent with experimental data. The committee recommended several ways in which DoD can improve the DoD-O'Flaherty model, its application, and documentation.

References

- ACGIH (American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists). 2020. TLV/BEI Guidelines. TLV Chemical Substances Introduction. https://www.acgih.org/tlv-bei-guidelines/tlv-chemical-substances-introduction, accessed March 16, 2020.
- Ackermann, U. 1978. Cardiac output, GFR, and renal excretion rates during maintained volume in rats. Am J Physiol 235(6):H670-H676.
- Anna, D.H. 2011. The Occupational Environment: Its Evaluation, Control, and Management. Third Edition. Fairfax, VA: American Industrial Hygiene Association.
- ARA (Applied Research Associates, Inc.). 2012. Multiple-Path Particle Dosimetry Model (MPPD v 2.11): A Model for Human and Rat Airway Particle Dosimetry. http://www.ara.com/products/mppd.htm, accessed March 16, 2020.
- Arcus-Arth, A., and R.J. Blaisdell. 2007. Statistical distributions of daily breathing rates for narrow age groups of infants and children. Risk Anal 27:97-110.
- Ashley, K., and M. Harper. 2014. NIOSH Manual of Analytical Methods. Consideration of Sampler Wall Deposits. Inclusion of material adhering to internal cassette surfaces during sampling and analysis of airborne particles. https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2003-154/cassetteguidance.html, accessed March 16, 2020.
- Azar, A., R.D. Snee, and K. Habibi. 1975. An epidemiologic approach to community air lead exposure using personal air samplers. Environ Qual Saf Suppl 2:254-290.
- Barton, H.A., W.A. Chiu, R.W. Setzer, M.E. Andersen, A.J. Bailer, F.Y. Bois, R.S. Dewoskin, S. Hays, G. Johanson, N. Jones, G. Loizou, R.C. Macphail, C.J. Portier, M. Spendiff, and Y.M. Tan. 2007. Characterizing uncertainty and variability in physiologically based pharmacokinetic models: state of the science and needs for research and implementation. Toxicol Sci 99(2):395-402. Epub May 4, 2007.
- Bergdahl, I.A., A. Schütz, L. Gerhardsson, A. Jensen, and S. Skerfving. 1997. Lead concentrations in human plasma, urine and whole blood. Scan J Work Environ Health 23(5):359-363.
- Bergdahl, I.A., M. Vahter, S.A. Counter, A. Schütz, L.H. Buchanan, F. Ortega, G. Laurell, and S. Skerfving. 1999. Lead in plasma and whole blood from lead-exposed children. Environ Research 80(1):25-33.
- Borghardt, J.M., B. Weber, A. Staab, and C. Kloft. 2015. Pharmacometric models for characterizing the pharmacokinetics of orally inhaled drugs. AAPS Journal 17(4):853-870.
- Brochu, P., J.F. Ducré-Robitaille, and J. Brodeur. 2006. Physiological daily inhalation rates for freeliving individuals aged 1 month to 96 years, using data from doubly labeled water measurements: A proposal for air quality criteria, standard calculations and health risk assessment. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 12:675-701.
- Carelli, G., O. Masci, A. Altieri, and N. Castellino. 1999. Occupational exposure to lead—granulometric distribution of airborne lead in relation to risk assessment. Ind Health 37(3):313-321.
- CDC (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention). 2012. National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS). National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey Data. Hyattsville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Chiu, W.A., H.A. Barton, R.S. DeWoskin, P. Schlosser, C.M. Thompson, B. Sonawane, J.C. Lipscomb, and K. Krishnan. 2007. Evaluation of physiologically based pharmacokinetic models for use in risk assessment. J Appl Toxicol 27(3):218-237.
- Clark, L.H., R.W. Setzer, and H.A. Barton. 2004. Framework for evaluation of physiologically-based pharmacokinetic models for use in safety or risk assessment. Risk Anal 24(6):1697-1717.
- Cummin, A.R., V.I. Iyawe, N. Mehta, and K.B. Saunders. 1986. Ventilation and cardiac output during the onset of exercise, and during voluntary hyperventilation, in humans. J Physiol 370:567-583.
- de Silva, P.E. 1981. Determination of lead in plasma and studies on its relationship to lead in erythrocytes. Br J Ind Med 38:209-217.
- DoD (U.S. Department of Defense). 2019. Response to Requests from the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Prepared by L. Sweeney on July 8, 2019. Cleared for Public Release on August 14, 2019.
- EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). 1977. Air Quality Criteria for Lead, EPA/600/8-77/017 (NTIS PB28 0411).
- EPA. 1986. Air Quality Criteria for Lead (Final Report, 1986), EPA/600/8-83/028AF (NTIS PB87142386), Vols I-IV.

References

- EPA. 1994. Technical Support Document: Parameters and Equations Used in the Integrated Exposure Uptake Biokinetic Model for Lead in Children (v0.99d). EPA 540/R-94/040 PB94-963505 OSWER #9285.7-22. December.
- EPA. 2001a. Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund: Volume 3—Part A, Process for Conducting Probabilistic Risk Assessment. Office of Emergency and Remedial Response, Washington, DC. EPA/540/R-02/002. December.
- EPA. 2001b. Review of Adult Lead Models Evaluation of Models for Assessing Human Health Risks Associated with Lead Exposures at Non-Residential Areas of Superfund and Other Hazardous Waste Sites. OSWER #9285. 7-46 August.
- EPA. 2006. Air Quality Criteria for LEAD (Final Report, 2006). EPA/600/R-05/144aF-bF. Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPA. 2009a. Guidance on the Development, Evaluation, and Application of Environmental Models, Council for Regulatory Environmental Modeling. EPA/11/K-09/003. Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- EPA. 2009b. Metabolically Derived Human Ventilation Rates: A Revised Approach Based Upon Oxygen Consumption Rates (Final Report). EPA/600/R-06/129F. Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/cfm/recordisplay.cfm?deid=202543, accessed March 16, 2020.
- EPA. 2011. Exposure Factors Handbook: 2011 Edition. EPA/600/R-090/052F. September 2011. Washington, DC: U.S. EPA National Center for Environmental Assessment, Office of Research and Development. https://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/risk/recordisplay.cfm?deid=236252, accessed March 16, 2020.
- EPA. 2013. Integrated Science Assessment for Lead. EPA/600/R-10/075F, 2013. June 2013; errata sheet May 12, 2014.
- EPA. 2017. Update of the Adult Lead Methodology's Default Baseline Blood Lead Concentration and Geometric Standard Deviation Parameters and the Integrated Exposure Uptake Biokinetic Model's Default Maternal Blood Lead Concentration at Birth Variable. OLEM Directive 9285.6-56. https://semspub.epa.gov/work/HQ/196766.pdf, accessed March 4, 2020.
- EPA. 2019. Technical Support Document for the All Ages Lead Model (AALM)—Parameters, Equations, and Evaluations (External Review Draft). Washington, DC. EPA600/R-19/011.
- Friis, R.H. 2016. Occupational Health and Safety for the 21st Century. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Froines, J.R., W.C. Liu, W.C. Hinds, and D.H. Wegman. 1986. Effect of aerosol size on the blood lead distribution of industrial workers. Am J Ind Med 9:227-237.
- Gross, S.B. 1981. Human oral and inhalation exposures to lead: summary of Kehoe balance experiments. J Tox Environ Health 8(3):333-377.
- Hodgkins, D.G., D.L. Hinkamp, T.G. Robins, S.P. Levine, M.A. Schork, and W.H. Krebs. 1990. Air-lead particle sizes in battery manufacturing: Potential effects on the OSHA compliance model. Appl Occup Environ Hyg 5(8):518-525.
- Hursh, J. B., A. Schraub, E.L. Sattler, and H.P. Hofmann. 1969. Fate of 212Pb inhaled by human subjects. Health Phys 16(3):257-267.
- IPCS (International Programme on Chemical Safety). 2010. Characterization and Application of Physiologically Based Models in Risk Assessment. Harmonization Project Document No. 9. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- Jahn, S.D., W.H. Bullock, and J.S. Ignacio (Editors). 2015. A Strategy for Assessing and Managing Occupational Exposures. Fourth Edition. Falls Church, VA: American Industrial Hygiene Association.
- Lach, K., B. Steer, B. Gorbunov, V. Mička, and R. Muir. 2015. Evaluation of exposure to airborne heavy metals at gun shooting ranges. Ann Occup Hyg 59(3):307-323.
- Leggett, R.W. 1993. An age-specific kinetic model of lead metabolism in humans. Environ Health Persp 101(7):598-616.
- Liu, W.V., J.R. Froines, and W.C. Hinds. 1996. Particle size distribution of lead aerosol in a brass foundry and a battery manufacturing plant. Occup Hyg 3(4):213-228.
- Maddaloni, M., M. Ballew, G. Diamond, M. Follansbee, D. Gefell, P. Goodrum, M. Johnson, K. Koporec, G. Khoury, J. Luey, M. Odin, R. Troast, P. Van Leeuwen, I. Zaragoza. 2005. Assessing lead risks at non-residential hazardous waste sites. Human Ecol. Risk Assess. 11: 967-1003.
- McLanahan, E.D., H.A. El-Masri, L.M. Sweeney, L.Y. Kopylev, H.J. Clewell, J.F. Wambaugh, and P.M. Schlosser. 2012. Physiologically based pharmacokinetic model use in risk assessment—Why being published is not enough. Toxicol Sci 126(1):5-15.
- Nims, D.K. 1999. Basics of Industrial Hygiene. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- NRC (National Research Council). 2013. Potential Health Risks to DOD Firing-Range Personnel from Recurrent Lead Exposure. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://www.nap.edu/catalog/18249/potentialhealth-risks-to-dod-firing-range-personnel-from-recurrent-lead-exposure, accessed March 16, 2020.

- NTP (National Toxicology Program). 2012. NTP Monograph on Health Effects of Low-Level Lead. Prepublication Copy. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, National Institutes of Health. June 13, 2012 [online]. https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/ohat/lead/ final/monographhealtheffectslowlevellead_newissn_508.pdf, accessed March 16, 2020.
- O'Flaherty, E.J. 1993. Physiologically based models for bone-seeking elements. IV. Kinetics of lead disposition in humans. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 118:16-29.
- O'Flaherty, E.J. 2000. Modeling normal aging bone loss, with consideration of bone loss in osteoporosis. Toxicol Sci 55:171-188.
- Oreskes, N., K. Shrader-Frechette, and K. Belitz. 1994. Verification, validation, and confirmation of numerical models in the earth sciences. Science 263(5147):641-646.
- OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration). 2011. Standard Interpretations. Clarification of the Terms Employee's Working Lifetime and First Discovered. Letter dated February 28, 2011, corrected on September 28, 2012. https://www.osha.gov/laws-regs/standardinterpretations/2011-02-28, accessed March 16, 2020.
- Park, D.U., and N.W. Paik. 2002. Effect on blood lead of airborne lead particles characterized by size. Ann Occup Hyg 46(2):237-243.
- Perkins, J.L. 1997. Modern Industrial Hygiene-Recognition and Evaluation of Chemical Agents. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Peters, A.M., B. Howard, M.D. Neilly, N. Seshadri, R. Sobnack, C.A. Hooker, A. Irwin, H. Snelling, T. Gruning, L. Perry, N.H. Patel, R.S. Lawson, G. Shabo, N. Williams, S. Dave, and M.C. Barnfield. 2012. The reliability of glomerular filtration rate measured from plasma clearance: a multi-centre study of 1,878 healthy potential renal transplant donors. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 39(4):715-722.
- Petito Boyce, C., S.N. Sax, and J.M. Chen. 2017. Particle size distributions of lead measured in battery manufacturing and secondary smelter facilities and implications in setting workplace lead exposure limits. J Occup Enviro Hyg 14(8):594-608.
- Ramachandran, G. 2005. Occupational Exposure Assessment for Air Contaminants. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group.
- Seibert, J. 2019. Presentation to Committee to Review DoD's Proposed Occupational Exposure Limits for Lead, Washington, DC, June 13.
- Spear, T.M., W. Svee, J.H. Vincent, and N. Stanisich. 1998a. Chemical speciation of lead dust associated with primary lead smelting. Environ Health Persp 106(9):565-571.
- Spear, T.M., M.A. Werner, J. Bootland, E. Murray, G. Ramachandran, and J.H. Vincent. 1998b. Assessment of particle size distributions of health-relevant aerosol exposures of primary lead smelter workers. Ann Occup Hyg 42(2):73-80.
- Stifelman, M. 2007. Using doubly-labeled water measurements of human energy expenditure to estimate inhalation rates. Sci Total Environ 373:585-590.
- Sweeney, L.M. 2015. Evaluation of Pharmacokinetic Models for the Disposition of Lead (Pb) in Humans, in Support of Application to Occupational Exposure Limit Derivation. NAMRU-D Report Number 16-11.
- Sweeney, L.M. 2019. Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling of Airborne Lead in Support of Development of an Occupational Exposure Limit for Department of Defense Workers. AFRL-SA-WP-TR-2019-0003. February. Cleared.
- USAPHC (U.S. Army Public Health Command). 2017. Provisional Blood Lead Guidelines for Occupational Monitoring of Lead Exposure in the DoD. October. Cleared.
- Vincent, J.H. 1999. Sampling criteria for the inhalable fraction. In: Particle Size Selective Sampling for Particulate Air Contaminants. Cincinnati, OH: American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists.
- Vork, K., J. Carlisle, and J.P. Brown. 2013. Estimating Workplace Air and Worker Blood Lead Concentration Using an Updated Physiologically-Based Pharmacokinetic (PBPK) Model (with errata). Sacramento, CA: Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, California Environmental Protection Agency.
- White, P.D., P. Van Leeuwen, B.D. Davis, M. Maddaloni, K.A. Hogan, A.H. Marcus, and R.W. Elias. 1998. The conceptual structure of the Integrated Exposure Uptake Biokinetic Model for lead in children. Environ Health Persp 106(Suppl 6):1513-1530.
- Williams, M.K., E. King, and J. Walford. 1969. An investigation of lead absorption in an electric accumulator factory with the use of personal samplers. Br J Ind Med 26:202-216.

Appendix A

Statement of Task

An ad hoc committee will review the scientific and technical basis of the occupational exposure limits (OELs) for airborne lead developed by the U.S. Department of Defense (DoD). Specifically, the committee will evaluate whether the physiologically-based pharmacokinetic model (DoD-O'Flaherty model) used to derive airborne concentrations from blood lead levels was appropriate. Consideration will be given to whether an appropriate model was chosen, whether modifications to the model were appropriately justified, and whether the assumptions in and inputs to the model were reasonable. The committee will not recommend specific OEL values.

The committee will provide an overall summary conclusion on DoD's selected approach and the application of the approach for derivation of lead OEL values. The committee will address the following specific topics:

- Were the DoD-O'Flaherty model selection, parameterization, and validation appropriate, given the intended purpose—to develop OELs for DoD civilian and military workers?
- Were the inhalation rates used within the DoD-O'Flaherty model appropriate to represent DoD workers (military and civilian) who are occupationally exposed to lead?
- Were background levels of lead in air appropriately accounted for within the DoD-O'Flaherty model and representative of DoD workers who are occupationally exposed to lead?
- Is particle size variation appropriately accounted for within the DoD-O'Flaherty model and representative of lead absorption within DoD workers (military and civilian) who are occupationally exposed to lead?

Appendix B

Committee Member Biosketches

Justin G. Teeguarden (Chair) leads the Chemical Biology and Exposure Science Team and is the Chief Exposure Scientist for the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL). He holds a joint faculty position with the Oregon State University (OSU) Department of Environmental and Molecular Toxicology, where he served as the director of the OSU-PNNL-Superfund Center Research Translation Core. Dr. Teeguarden also leads the Decoding the Molecular Universe Directorate Objective for the Earth and Biological Sciences Directorate of PNNL in addition to leading Defense Health Programs. He currently serves as the interim deputy director for Science for the PNNL Environmental and Molecular Sciences Laboratory. Recently, he helped build PNNL's growing computational metabolomics program, which has developed methods for identifying small organic molecules with computational derived libraries instead of libraries derived from authentic chemical standards. Dr. Teeguarden has more than 20 years of experience in computational and experimental exposure assessment in humans, animals, and cell culture systems. His particular focus has been the utilization of emerging technologies, novel experimental data, and computational methods for addressing public health challenges related to human exposure to chemicals. His experience includes developing pharmacokinetics models for volatile and non-volatile organics, trace metals, nanomaterials (particles), and receptor binding endocrine active compounds. These models were developed as tools for understanding the relationship between external exposure and internal exposures for purposes of comparing human exposure to those in toxicity test systems (such as rodents and cell culture systems). Dr. Teeguarden served on the National Academies Committee on incorporating 21st Century Science in Risk-Based Evaluations; Committee on Human and Environmental Exposure Science in the 21st Century; and Committee for Review of the Federal Strategy to Address Environmental, Health, and Safety Research Needs for Engineered Nanoscale Materials. He currently serves on the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Board of Scientific Counselors Homeland Security Subcommittee. He has worked extensively with the Society of Toxicology and the Society for Risk Analysis to translate findings of fundamental scienceparticularly exposure and dosimetry information-into the risk and public health domains. Dr. Teeguarden received a PhD in toxicology from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, and is board certified in Toxicology. He is an Eagle Scout.

Jeffrey W. Fisher is a research toxicologist in the Division of Biochemical Toxicology of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration's National Center for Toxicological Research. Formerly, he was a professor in the Department of Environmental Health Science, College of Public Health, at the University of Georgia. He also worked at the Toxicology Laboratory of Wright Patterson Air Force Base, where he was principal investigator and senior scientist in the Toxics Hazards Division and technical advisor for the Operational Toxicology Branch. Dr. Fisher has 30 years of experience in physiological modeling. His career research interests are in the development and application of pharmacokinetic and biologically based mathematical models to ascertain health risks from environmental, occupational, and foodborne chemicals. His research activities included the development of a biokinetic model for nickel released from cardiovascular implanted devices. Dr. Fisher has served on several national panels and advisory boards for the U.S. Department of Defense, the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. He was a member of the National Academies Subcommittee on Acute Exposure Guideline Levels. Dr. Fisher received a PhD in zoology/toxicology from Miami University.

Appendix B

Gary L. Ginsberg is director of the Center for Environmental Health within the New York State Department of Health (NYS DoH) and has a clinical professor appointment at the Yale School of Public Health. His DoH duties include overseeing the administration and delivery of environmental health services across NYS, including public drinking water supplies, regulation of food establishments, prevention of childhood lead exposure, and protecting the public from waste site contamination and emerging contaminants. Previously, he was the state toxicologist at the Connecticut Department of Public Health. Dr. Ginsberg has published in the areas of toxicology and risk assessment including the development and evaluation of physiologically-based pharmacokinetic models for assessing risks from exposure to environmental agents, risks to children and other vulnerable populations, and risk/benefit analysis. He served on several National Academies committees, including the Committee on Use of Emerging Science for Environmental Health Decisions, Committee on Inorganic Arsenic, Committee on Improving Risk Analysis Approaches Used by the EPA, and Committee on Human Biomonitoring for Environmental Toxicants. Dr. Ginsberg received a PhD in toxicology from the University of Connecticut.

Philip E. Goodrum is a principal toxicologist at GSI Environmental Inc. Previously, he was a senior science advisor at Integral Consulting Inc. Dr. Goodrum has more than 25 years of experience in quantitative human health risk assessment, which includes statistical sampling methods, probabilistic risk assessment, and lead exposure modeling. He is also a board-certified toxicologist. Dr. Goodrum represents clients in negotiations with state and federal regulators, trustees, and stakeholder groups on issues related to data interpretation, statistical analysis, modeling, and risk characterization. He served on a number of national advisory committees that evaluated the scientific basis for changes in exposure factors and risk metrics for use in deriving risk-based action levels for lead in soil and water for residential, occupational, and recreational fishing exposure scenarios. For the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, he served on the Peer Review Panel for Lead in Drinking Water, Clean Air Scientific Advisory Committee review panel for the National Ambient Air Quality Standards for lead, and Science Advisory Board's Ad Hoc All-Ages Lead Model Review Panel. Dr. Goodrum received a PhD in environmental engineering from the State University of New York College of Environmental Science and Forestry in Syracuse.

Sheryl A. Milz is a professor in the School of Population Health of the University of Toledo and is a certified industrial hygienist. Her research interests are in human exposure assessments, risk assessment, and environmental and occupational epidemiology. Before joining the University of Toledo, she was an industrial hygienist and safety and occupational manager at the Great Lakes Naval Hospital, where she evaluated firing ranges for lead exposure and ventilation requirements. Dr. Milz has been active in the American Industrial Hygiene Association and the American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists. Dr. Milz served on the National Academies Committee on Potential Health Risks from Recurrent Lead Exposure to DOD Firing Range Personnel and she currently serves on the Committee on Toxicology. She received a PhD in public health sciences (industrial hygiene) from the University of Illinois at Chicago.

Roberta B. Ness (NAM) is a retired professor in the Division of Epidemiology and Disease Control, and was vice president for Innovation at The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston. She holds the James W. Rockwell Professorship in Public Health. Dr. Ness was formerly dean of The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, School of Public Health. She was formerly chair of the Department of Epidemiology at the University of Pittsburgh Graduate School of Public Health, where she was a professor of epidemiology, medicine, and obstetrics & gynecology. Her research areas include innovation in science and women's health. One of her specific research topics includes lead exposure, attention deficit disorder, and delinquency. She is a member of the National Academy of Medicine. Her service on National Academies committees includes chair of the Committee on Blue Water Navy Vietnam and Agent Orange Exposure. She received an MD from Weil Medical College of Cornell University and an MPH in epidemiology from Columbia University.

Gurumurthy Ramachandran is a professor in the Department of Environmental Health and Engineering in the Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. He is also the director of the university's Education and Research Center for Occupational Safety and Health. His research focus areas include occupational exposure and health risk, as well as Bayesian applications in exposure assessment. Dr. Ramachandran developed occupational exposure assessment strategies for a variety of airborne contaminants; novel Bayesian statistical methods that synthesize exposure models, monitoring data, and probabilistic expert judgment; and mathematical methods for exposure modeling and analyzing occupational measurements. He served on the National Academies Committee on Making Best Use of the Agent Orange Exposure Reconstruction Model. Dr. Ramachandran received a PhD in environmental sciences and engineering from the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.

Brad Reisfeld is a professor in the Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering and in the School of Biomedical Engineering at Colorado State University (CSU). In addition, he leads CSU's Quantitative Systems Pharmacology and Toxicology Research Group. Dr. Reisfeld's primary research interests are in quantitative and computational pharmacology and toxicology, computational systems biology, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics. His work includes the use of pharmacokinetic modeling, pharmacodynamic modeling, and Bayesian and Monte Carlo analyses to aid in the assessment of risk associated with environmental pollutant exposure and in the optimization of drug regimens for infectious disease treatment. He is a Diplomate of the American Board of Toxicology, vice president of the Biological Modeling Specialty Section of the Society of Toxicology, and chair of the Systems Pharmacology Focus Group of the American Association of Pharmaceutical Sciences. Dr. Reisfeld received a PhD in chemical engineering from Northwestern University and was a postdoctoral fellow at the Johns Hopkins School of Medicine.